



RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND RURAL-URBAN MIGRATION: THE ELUSIVE RELATIONSHIP

Scott D. Grosse



CENTER FOR RESEARCH ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT The University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109

Discussion Paper No. 103

June 1983

Rural Development and Rural-Urban Migration: The Elusive Relationship

Ьy

Scott D. Grosse*

An earlier version of this paper was prepared for the 12th International Conference of the Institute for International Development and Co-operation of the University of Ottawa in October 1981. The preparation of the report benefited greatly from the facilities of the Center for Research on Economic Development, the Center for Population Planning, the Population Studies Center, and the University of Michigan Libraries. A number of current and former colleagues have offered helpful comments on earlier drafts.

* * *

Discussion Papers are preliminary materials circulated to stimulate discussion and critical comment. References in publications to Discussion Papers should be cleared with the author to protect the tentative character of these papers.

* *

*Center for Population Planning, University of Michigan.

Discussion Paper No. 103, July 1983. Published by the Center for Research on Economic Development, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan, 48109, U.S.A.

ABSTRACT

This paper recapitulates the debate over whether rural development policies can be expected to substantially reduce the rate at which people leave the countryside for the cities in developing countries. First, the evidence of household-level and aggregate migration studies is brought to bear on the issue. Contrary to conventional wisdom, cross-sectional migration studies in developing countries generally fail to support the idea that raising rural incomes will reliably reduce rural out-migration. A number of time-series and cross-national studies are found to offer some support for the potential of rural development to reduce rural-urban migration, but even these studies suggest that urban factors dominate the flow of rural-urban migration. Specific rural development programs are also reviewed, which are often found to be as likely to stimulate as to inhibit rural out-migration.

RESUME

Ce rapport récapitule le débat concernant l'hypothèse suivante: le développement rural réduit d'une manière significative la croissance du taux de migration vers les villes dans les pays en voie de développement. La première partie du rapport analyse les résultats de certaines enquêtes sur la migration. Contrairement à l'hypothèse conventionnelle, les études basées sur des échantillons des populations des pays en voie de développement ne soutiennent pas l'argument qu'une hausse des revenus ruraux freine l'exode rural. De nombreux études basées sur des données temporelles recueillies dans de divers pays offrent un nombre restreint de preuves que le développement rural décourage la migration vers les villes. Cependant, ces études indiquent que des facteurs urbains ont la plus grande influence sur la migration des campagnes vers les villes. La deuxième partie du rapport présente une analyse de certains programmes de développement rural. L'analyse montre que ces programmes pourraient inciter aussi bien que décourage l'émigration rurale.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	-	-0-
ABSTRACT	. 1	iii
	•	1
WAGES AND OUT-MIGRATION IN ECONOMIC MODELS	•	1
Household-level Migration Studies	•	3
Regression Analyses of Migration and Urbanization	•	4
RURAL DEVELOPMENT POLICIES AND RURAL-URBAN MIGRATION	•	11
Modernization and Structural Change	•	11
Factor Price Policies and Mechanization	•	12
Agricultural Development	•	13
Agrarian Structure and Reform	•	17
Land Colonization	•	19
Rural Amenities	•	21
Rural Infrastructure and Employment	•	22
Off-farm Employment and Decentralized Urbanization	•	24
CONCLUSION	•	26
NOTES	•	27
BIBLIOGRAPHY		30

Page

INTRODUCTION

The overcrowding of cities in many areas of the Third World has led a number of governments to seek ways to stem the exodus from rural areas. Rural development programs are often suggested as means for retaining the population in rural areas. Those making such recommendations typically write as if there were conclusive evidence that rural development is indeed effective in slowing rural-urban migration. However, the conclusion drawn from the studies reviewed in this paper indicates there is no clear-cut relationship between the level of development in rural areas and the rate of migration to the cities. Indeed, many of these studies suggest that rural development programs are as likely to stimulate rural out-migration as to inhibit it. The evidence for this conclusion comes from Africa, Asia, and Latin America alike.

The recognition that rural development may be ineffective in slowing rural-urban migration is not new with this paper, but is found also in three recent reviews on rural development and migration (see Rhoda, 1979; Laquian, 1980; and Findley, 1981).¹ Even the World Bank now "doubts that rural development or industrial decentralization policies could solve the fundamental urbanization problems in the developing world ... " (Ayres, 1983, p. 149). The issue is by no means settled yet, and some writers still hold to the conventional wisdom that rural development is efficacious in retaining the population in rural areas (e.g., Todaro and Stilkind, 1981). While the skeptical view adopted in this paper has only recently come to the fore, it seems to have always had its adherents. "It has been suggested that agricultural development may discourage migration to urban centres by raising the standard of living of the peasant and by offering him a more diversified range of services. There is clear evidence that this assumption is unjustified" (Israel, 1969, p. 4). According to Ellen Bussey (1973, p. 108), "even at best, programs intended to counter the trend toward severe population concentration can only be expected to pay very limited dividends in the foreseeable future." The late Adlai Stevenson, speaking to a UN audience, observed: "For too long we have proceeded on the false assumption that people would really rather live in villages than elsewhere and that it is better for society if they did. The trouble is they don't -- even when the village is modernized and sanitized and electrified, people move into larger towns and cities" (quoted in Ward, 1977, p. 28).

WAGES AND OUT-MIGRATION IN ECONOMIC MODELS

In most economic models of migration in developing countries, rural-urban migration is specified as a function of the size of the expected rural-urban income

differential. That is, rural-urban migration is presumed to be positively related to urban wages and inversely related to both the rate of urban unemployment and rural wages (Reder, 1963; Sahota, 1968; Todaro, 1969). Such models lead to the suggestion that governments should hold down urban wages and raise rural incomes if they want to slow the rate of rural-urban migration. In the words of Michael Todaro (1976a, p. 222): "Any real attempt to tackle the widespread problem of excessive rural-urban migration in the context of rising urban unemployment will of necessity require concentrated efforts at narrowing the ubiquitous and, in most cases, growing imbalances between urban and rural 'expected' incomes by holding the line on the growth of the former while focusing on rapidly raising the latter."

The usual assumption that higher rural incomes should necessarily lead to less out-migration does not follow directly from economic theory. A rise in wages in a particular location should definitely lead to more in-migration (other things held constant), so long as people, once they decide to move, prefer to move to places with higher incomes. But higher wages at the point of origin have an ambiguous effect on out-migration, as a positive income effect can be expected to offset in part or in whole a negative substitution effect. Hence, it is logical to expect that in-migration should be much more responsive to economic conditions than out-migration (Lowry, 1966).

A positive effect of income on rural-urban migration may be derived from a number of sources. For one, families with higher incomes have a greater ability to finance the move of a family member to a city (Bishop, 1961; O'Neill, 1970). Higher income families also typically enjoy better information about urban opportunities, which facilitates migration independent of actual income (Connell et al., 1976). Second, there may be a positive income elasticity of demand for urban goods and urban lifestyles (Khuri, 1967; Desmond, 1975; Ohashi, 1980). Third, migration is typically selective of more educated rural inhabitants while educational attainment generally rises with income level, so that in the long run, higher incomes should lead to more people becoming educated and leaving the rural areas (Yap, 1977; Preston, 1979; Rhoda, 1979; Laquian, 1980). Finally, "the rising aspirations that are triggered by improved levels of living in the rural areas may stimulate many to be attracted by what they see as even better opportunities to improve their lot in urban locations" (Goldstein, 1979, p. 24).

Household-level Migration Studies²

Widespread empirical support exists for a positive income effect on urban-bound migration. A large number of studies using household-level survey data find that urban migrants on the average come from better-off rural households, including studies from Lebanon, Peru, Ghana, Argentina, Colombia, Thailand, Nigeria, Taiwan, Bangladesh, Indonesia, Senegal, India, and Ecuador (Khuri, 1967; Doughty, 1968; Caldwell, 1969; Wilkie, 1971; Simmons and Cardona, 1972; Fuhs and Vingerhoets, 1972; Essang and Mabawonko, 1974; Speare, 1974; Chaudhury, 1978; Hugo, 1978; de Jonge, 1978; Mehta, 1982; Preston and Preston, 1983; respectively). Behrman and Wolfe (1982) find that among females in Nicaragua, there is a significantly positive association between rural earnings and rural-urban migration. On the other hand, Sovani (1966, p. 145), Hill (1972, p. 98), and Saint and Goldsmith (1980), find that urban-bound migrants in rural samples from India, Nigeria, and Brazil are more likely than nonmigrants to come from Hay (1980) and Wimberly, Flinn and Berry (1983) find poor cultivator families. significantly negative coefficients on income in individual-level regression analyses of out-migration in rural samples from Tunisia and Colombia.

In general, rural-urban migration in developing countries does not appear to be consistently selective of either relatively poor or relatively well-to-do rural residents. Harris and Steer (1968), D. Adams (1969), Udall (1981), Goddard (1974), Gallin and Gallin (1980), Stier (1983), and Yoo (1982) find no difference in their Jamaican, Colombian, Nigerian, Taiwanese, Panamanian, and Korean rural samples between migrants and nonmigrants in household landholdings or socioeconomic status. Byerlee, Tommy and Fattoo (1976) find that uneducated urban migrants in Sierra Leone tend to come from marginally below-average while educated migrants on the average come from very slightly better-off households. Bates (1976), Oberai and Singh (1980), and Maude (1981) find in their rural samples from Zambia, India, and Malaysia that migrant households are slightly poorer on the average before remittances are taken into account and slightly better-off afterwards. The problem of causality bedevils almost any comparison of migrant and nonmigrant household incomes.

One reason for the lack of a consistent association between economic status and out-migration is that migrant selectivity may decrease over time as migration becomes more widespread (Balan, 1969). As Browning and Feindt (1969, p. 353) note: "The more recent arrivals to Monterrey, in contrast, represent a 'mass' migration that does not differ substantially from the characteristics of the population of the communities of origin." Two Latin American studies (Romero and Flinn, 1976; Kemper, 1977) find positive selectivity by education and class only among those who

3

moved prior to 1960. Dipolo and Suarez (1974, p. 194) note that in their Venezuelan village sample, "migration to the city is not attributable to those families identified as the upper stratum. All families, regardless of their socioeconomic status, have some member who has migrated to the city." Likewise Hill (1977, p. 153) notes that "in parts of rural Fanteland in southern Ghana where land is very plentiful, fathers actively encourage all their sons to move when they are young -- some of whom return in their middle years." At the other extreme, Hill (1977, p. 143) cites a Hausa village in northern Nigeria where, in contrast to another village with an inverse association between status and out-migration, "there is no such relationship, rates of outward migration being low for all categories of father."

Another reason for the divergent findings regarding the association between socioeconomic status and urban-bound migration is the heterogeneity of migration A number of studies find that rural out-migrants are composed of two streams. distinct groups: one is relatively poor and tends to engage in temporary migration to other rural areas; the other is relatively affluent and well-educated and engages in permanent city-bound migration (Flinn and Cartano, 1970; Connell et al., 1976; Fuhs and Vingerhoets, 1977; Chaudhury, 1978; Roberts and Samaniego, 1978; Mazur, 1982).³ It would be unwise to make any hard and fast generalizations, though, for we observe almost every kind of migration pattern imaginable. A number of studies, including ones from India, Ivory Coast, and Indonesia, find that both types of migrants move to urban areas, with the chief difference being that the poorer migrants spend shorter periods in urban areas (Eames and Schwab, 1964; Joshi, 1973; Hugo, 1978). Nelson (1976) cautions against any such simplistic generalizations, noting that while sometimes permanent migrants are more affluent than temporary migrants, often the pattern is reversed. For example, Curtain (1975) argues that in Papua New Guinea it is the poorer migrants who develop a more permanent attachment to urban areas.

Regression Analyses of Migration and Urbanization

While many studies of migration rates use the ratio of rural and urban incomes as an explanatory variable, this presumes a symmetry of response to urban and rural wages or earnings. Since, as we have seen, there are compelling reasons for expecting a difference in the responses to the two variables, it is important to enter urban and rural wages or earnings separately in regression models of migration. It is possible for the rural-urban income differential to be significantly related to migration rates even without an association between rural incomes and rural out-migration -- as long as there is a strong association between urban wages and urban in-migration.⁴ Almost all empirical studies which enter both urban and rural wages separately find that urban wages are indeed positively related to urban in-migration to a statistically significant degree; it is the relationship between rural incomes and rural out-migration which is in question. Even those studies which find the expected inverse association between wages at origin and out-migration typically find a much higher magnitude of response to the destination wage variable. For example, N. Adams' (1969) Jamaican study finds elasticities on destination wages approximately three times as high as on wages at origin.

Of those cross-sectional aggregate migration studies that include measures of wages or incomes at point of origin, some find a significant negative coefficient, other find a significant positive coefficient, while the largest number of studies find no significant association at all. Table 1 presents a summary of such findings (not necessarily complete) from Africa, Asia, and the Americas. Collectively, these results cast doubt on the idea that higher rural earnings can be expected in the long run to reliably inhibit rural out-migration to any major extent. This conclusion is in direct contrast to most previous surveys of migration studies in the developing world, which typically report that out-migration is consistently found to be significantly, inversely related to origin wage rates (Brigg, 1973; Connell et al., 1976; Simmons, Diaz-Briquets and Laquian, 1977; Yap, 1977; Berry and Sabot, 1978; Todaro, 1976b; 1980). The majority of the studies cited in Table 1 do not refer specifically to rural-urban migration, but rather to migration between states or provinces.

One of the best of the studies cited in Table 1 is that of Byerlee, Tommy and As part of a larger project, the researchers collected detailed Fatoo (1976). information on incomes, wages, and employment in a number of locations in Sierra Leone. The data were aggregated for the purpose of estimating the determinants of migration rates. The researchers find that rural-urban migration responds significantly to urban wages, as expected, but not to either rural wages or urban unemployment rates. Interestingly, a separate analysis of rural-rural migration showed an equal response (of opposite sign) to rural wages at origin and destination, as one would expect in a world of costless information and mobility. This finding also defuses the criticism of some (Connell et al., 1976; Rempel, 1981) that observed rural wages are poor measures of the opportunity cost of rural workers. The finding of insignificance on the unemployment variable is a common one and may reflect poor measurement or misspecification. Barnum and Sabot (1977) calculate a measure of probability of securing an urban job, which they find to be significantly related to rural-urban migration in Tanzania.

A number of migration studies yield mixed results. Greenwood (1971) finds a negative coefficient on origin wages for out-migration from <u>urban</u> areas in India but a

5

TABLE 1

Study	Country	Sign of coefficient (if significant)
Africa		
Beals et al. (1967)	Ghana	-
Greenwood (1969)	Egypt	-
*Byerlee et al. (1976)	Sierra leone	0
*Mertaugh (1976)	Morocco	+
*Barnum and Sabot (1977)	Tanzania	0
Knowles and Anker (1977)	Kenya	0
*Huntingdon (1977)	Kenya	-
*House and Rempel (1980)	Kenya	0
*Rempel (1981)	Kenya	0
Asia		
*Greenwood (1971)	India	+
Harris (1974)	Papua New Guinea	0
Munro (1974)	Turkey	0
Lithwick (1979)	Israel	+
*Mojtahed (1980)	Iran	0
*Dhar (1980)	India	-
*Banerjee and Kanbur (1981)	India	· +
Americas		
Sahota (1968)	Brazil	-,0
N. Adams (1969)	Jamaica	-
*Schultz (1971)	Colombia	-,0
Levy and Wadycki (1972)	Venezuela	-,0
*Unikel et al. (1973)	Mexico	+
Eaton (1976)	Brazil	0
Greenwood (1978)	Mexico	0
King (1978)	Mexico	0
Falaris (1979)	Peru	0
*Silvers and Crosson (1980)	Mexico	0
Greenwood et al. (1981)	Mexico	+
Garrison (1982)	Mexico	+
Fields (1982)	Colombia	0
*Schultz (1982)	Venezuela	-

CROSS-SECTIONAL REGRESSION RESULTS OF EFFECT OF WAGES OR EARNINGS AT ORIGIN ON OUT-MIGRATION RATES

NOTE: Those studies marked with an asterisk (*) are studies of rural-urban migration and should be given greater weight. positive coefficient on origin wages for out-migration from <u>rural</u> areas. Overall, Greenwood, Ladman and Siegel (1981) find a positive earnings coefficient regarding interstate out-migration in Mexico, but a negative coefficient with respect to short and medium distance moves. Sahota (1968), and Levy and Wadycki (1972) both find significant negative coefficients in certain cases, but very small and insignificant coefficients on origin wages for young adult males, ages 15-29 and 15-24 in Brazil and Venezuela, respectively. Curiously, with data from Colombia, which borders on both Venezuela and Brazil, Schultz (1971) finds that <u>only</u> young men up to age 26 appear to respond to rural-urban wage differentials. Fields (1982), also using Colombian data, finds a marginally significant negative coefficient on origin wages for only relatively well-educated individuals.

Two studies not included in Table 1 (because of evidence of apparent severe multicollinearity in the samples) are Shaw (1974), and Masser and Gould (1975, p. 83-90). Shaw finds a large and significantly positive correlation between agricultural income per worker and rural out-migration rates in Chile, but when a migrant stock variable is included in the regression equation, the other variables all fade in significance. Masser and Gould find a simple correlation of essentially zero between district income and out-migration rates in Uganda, and a large positive correlation between district income and in-migration rates, consistent with the findings of most other migration studies. The regression results indicate an opposing pattern, due to the confounding influence of district urbanization and educational attainment -- both of which are highly correlated with district income and have direct effects on migration in the same direction.

It is plausible that growth in earnings should be more closely related to migration flows than is the level of earnings. Cross-sectional relationships between income and migration may reflect long run adjustments to higher incomes, which in the aggregate can be either positive or negative. But short-term variations in income are probably associated with a smaller positive income effect on migration and hence are more likely to be negatively associated with out-migration. Sahota (1968), Greenwood (1978), and Silvers and Crosson (1980) find that growth in income is significantly negatively associated with out-migration, although Shaw (1974), and Banerjee and Kanbur (1981) do not.

Another possible reason for the lack of a consistent association between wage levels and out-migration is the confounding influence of income distribution. There are at least three possible explanations that can be given for why a more unequal distribution of income should be associated with greater out-migration. One suggestion is that real incomes do matter but that mean earnings or wage levels fail to adequately reflect the situation of the poor (Rempel, 1981). A second suggestion is that "inequality tends to compel the poor (though not the poorest) to move, and to enable the better-off to do so also" (Connell et al., 1976, p. 196). Finally, extreme inequality of landholdings, as in the latifundia-minifundia system in much of Latin America may reflect an economic system which performs poorly in providing sufficient employment (Shaw, 1976).

The empirical evidence is scanty, but it appears that it is probably the employment consequences of polarized agrarian structures rather than income inequality per se which stimulates out-migration. Rempel (1981) finds that higher inequality of income is associated with greater out-migration in Kenya. But Banerjee and Kanbur (1981) find that greater inequality of income is associated with less outmigration in rural India, while greater inequality of operational landholdings is associated with higher rates of out-migration. Connell et al. (1976) report on the basis of Indian village data that out-migration rates are higher from villages with more unequal distributions of operational landholdings, but they report no significant association with either inequality of landownership or inequality of income, which vitiates their own conclusion. Fragmentation of landholdings appears to also be positively associated with rural out-migration in Kenya (Wasow, 1981). Shaw (1974; 1976) finds inequality of landholdings to be strongly associated with aggregate rates of rural out-migration in Latin America. On the other hand, while Lieberman (1980) finds that fragmentation of landholdings appears to be positively related to rural outmigration in Turkey, inequality of landholdings is inversely related to out-migration. Mojtahed (1980) finds rural out-migration in Iran to be weakly, positively related to inequality of rain-fed landholdings, but unrelated to inequality of irrigated landholdings.

A major obstacle to analyzing the relationship between changes in migration and wage gaps in developing countries over time is the absence of reliable annual data on migration or sectoral earnings. Table 2 reports results for time-series regression analyses of rural-urban migration (all use either the ratio of rural and urban wages or the ratio of agricultural and nonagricultural average productivities as predictor variables). The evidence from Mexico, Taiwan and Korea alike seems to indicate a consistent association between wage (or productivity) gaps and migration flows. However, these results may largely reflect the "pull" of urban conditions and offer uncertain support for the importance of "push" factors. Furthermore, while the three studies using Japanese data disagree on the situation in postwar Japan, they agree that between the two World Wars (when Japan was still a developing country) that there was no association between relative earnings and the rate of off-farm migration.

TABLE 2

		Sign of coefficient
Study	Country	(if significant)
Gollas (1980)	Mexico	-
Burford (1970)	Taiwan	-
Renaud (1977)	South Korea	0
Rehnberg (1977)	South Korea	-
Park and Fullerton (1980)	South Korea	-
Grosse (1981)	South Korea	-
Minami (1967)	Japan	0,-
Misawa (1974)	Japan	0
Mundlak and Strauss (1978)	Japan	0,-

TIME-SERIES ESTIMATES OF EFFECT OF RURAL-URBAN EARNINGS RATIOS ON RURAL-URBAN MIGRATION

The author's own analysis of off-farm migration in the Republic of Korea (Grosse, 1981) finds that while the ratio of productivities between agriculture and nonagricultural sectors appears to be significantly, negatively related to the rate of off-farm migration, this association is relatively modest. The bulk of the explanatory power of the model is accounted for by measures of urban absorptive capacity as reflected in nonfarm output growth rates and the relative share of the urban population. These statistical results are supported by the fact that despite an extraordinarily successful program of integrated rural development in Korea during the 1970s (resulting in the near elimination of rural-urban income differentials according to official statistics), there has been no deceleration in rural-urban migration. "The fact is that average incomes (and even expected incomes) may differ widely between areas without inducing a mass movement from the lower income area, or there may be small income differences coexisting with a high rate of migration, or there may be an increase in migration after a fall in income differentials" (Peek and Standing, 1979, p. One reason for the latter phenomenon is that there may be a state of 747). disequilibrium: "because more people are willing to move than jobs are available, so that movement off farms follows the demand for labor even when farm incomes improve, relative to nonfarm incomes" (Bishop, 1961, p. 29).

The absence of annual migration data from Africa has led two authors to estimate migration-type models with annual data on change in urban unemployment. The argument made is that if one includes an index of employment creation, then variations in urban unemployment should be linked closely to rural-urban migration flows. Levi (1973) estimates a regression model for Sierra Leone with data from 1959 to 1970, in which the explanatory variables are urban real wages, rural real income per capita, urban employment, and lagged urban unemployment. All variables are significant at the .05 level except for agricultural income, which is of borderline statistical significance. Knight (1972) estimates a similar model with data from Ghana from 1956 to 1967. Knight finds all four of the explanatory variables in his model (net change in urban employment, average urban wage, rural supply price of labor, and number of school-leavers) have positive coefficients, although only the first two are statistically significant. Levi (1973) provides very weak support, at best, for the potential role of higher rural incomes in reducing urban unemployment by keeping individuals in rural areas while Knight (1972) suggests that the effect, if any, is in the opposite direction (that is, higher rural earnings stimulate migration and urban unemployment).

Several recent regression analyses of urbanization and rural-urban population shifts have used aggregate cross-national data. Mundlak (1978) finds the rate of transfer of labor out of agriculture to be negatively related to the ratio of productivities between agriculture and other sectors (a proxy for earnings ratios), but this association is dominated statistically by the positive effect of the nonagricultural labor force share on the rate of labor transfer out of agriculture. A study prepared for the United Nations (1980) finds rural-urban migration to be positively related to growth in agricultural output per rural resident, but this result probably derives at least in part from bias due to reverse causation. Kelley and Williamson (1981) conclude on the basis of a simulation model that productivity growth in agriculture slows urbanization. Pernia (1981) finds with a pooled cross-section time-series sample of Asian nations that the rate of urbanization is significantly negatively related to the rate of agricultural output growth. Bilsborrow and Winegarden (1982) report a significant negative association across countries between agricultural incomes and rates of rural-urban migration.

Taken as a group, these cross-national studies suggest that higher levels of agricultural production should definitely lead to lower rates of rural-urban migration, other things held constant. The highly abstract nature of cross-national aggregates makes this finding of questionable comfort for national planners. One finding common to all methodologies is that the "pull" of urban economic conditions appears to

dominate the "push" of rural conditions in explaining variations in rural-urban migrations. This is consistent with the observation of Samuel Preston (1979, p. 197) that, "in general rural out-migration is fastest in countries where economic performance allows the best possibilities for accommodating the exodus. This view contrasts with one in which absolute deprivation in rural areas, associated in part with rapid rural natural increase, is seen as the motive force driving multitudes to the city."

RURAL DEVELOPMENT POLICIES AND RURAL-URBAN MIGRATION

As Lucie Colvin (1981, p. 335-36) notes, it is usual, for analysts to "conclude that the rural exodus stems primarily from lack of rural development. It has become common to assume the converse is also true: rural development will stem the tide of the rural exodus. There can be no quarrel with the general statement that the rural exodus comes in response to the faster development of urban areas, but the conclusion that rural development is a sufficient answer to the problem does not follow." Colvin (1981, p. 109) also notes, "it has become customary to list an effect on the rural exodus as a goal of virtually every rural development project." Unfortunately, such expectations are based mostly on speculation rather than empirical evidence. In this second half of the paper, specific types of rural development" entails in terms of modernization and structural change.

Modernization and Structural Change

A number of authors have suggested explanations for why rural development might increase the volume of rural out-migration which can be put under the rubric of modernization, institutional change, and social differentiation (Conning, 1972; Germani, 1973; Godfrey, 1979; Wagner and Ward, 1980). The introduction of new structures and practices from urban areas may encourage new orientations which make urban lifestyles appear more attractive (Fuguitt, 1979; Rhoda, 1979; Lauwagie, 1980). Rural youth may become increasingly unwilling to submit to the discipline of their elders (Hart, 1974; Yoo, 1982). This factor is frequently cited as stimulating migration in Africa in particular (Imoagene, 1974).

Commercialization of peasant agriculture can be expected to lead to a behavioral revolution in agriculture resulting in a lower use of family labor. This phenomenon can be approached from either a neoclassical economics perspective (Maruyama, 1967; Ward, 1977) or a political economy perspective (McGee, 1978), but in either the result is same: in market-oriented farm households, the amount of family

labor utilized will tend to be markedly lower than in farm households with a subsistence orientation. A recent study of several Mexican villages concludes that agricultural modernization tends to increase out-migration through the freeing of household labor while a higher standard of living within a traditional setting due to favorable ecological factors, appears to inhibit out-migration (Roberts, 1982).⁵ Wimberly, Flinn and Berry (1983) likewise find that in rural Colombia both stagnation and agricultural modernization are associated with high rates of out-migration. It is also suggested that as relations of production in low-income rural societies become capitalist (i.e., landowners begin to view workers as a factor of production), quasifeudal restrictions on mobility disappear, resulting in a rapid increase in migration (Roberts, 1978; Peek and Standing, 1979; Standing, 1981). Barraclough and Domike (1966), and Deere (1978) discuss cases from Ecuador and Peru in which the transformation of backwards haciendas into modern capitalist farms resulted in the displacement and subsequent out-migration of much of the work force.

If rural development is successful in raising the incomes of most rural inhabitants, it may lead to less labor being demanded in farming by making labor more expensive to use. While this may seem paradoxical because increased output is in general associated with greater usage of inputs, the effect of successful development is to raise the opportunity cost or scarcity value of labor. This is particularly the case if governments intervene to try to raise rural wages directly. Policy experiments in Nigeria and Brazil designed to raise wage levels for farm workers are said to have had the effect of many farm workers being released from employment because of their higher cost (Eicher et al., 1970; Jones, 1975, p. 21). As labor becomes relatively more expensive with successful development, greater use of capital inputs tends to displace labor (Laquian, 1980, p. 41), regardless of whether the labor in question is wage labor or unpaid family labor.

Factor Price Policies and Mechanization

According to Findley (1981, p. 149), "The setting of low prices for agricultural commodities is one of the few policies for which there is uniform agreement among analysts on a direct relationship between policy and migration." Likewise, Colvin (1981, p. 276) states, "The greatest single step that could improve the situation of the rural resident and diminish his need to migrate is an increase in the price of his crops..." Rehnberg (1977) contends that the ratio of prices paid and received by farmers in Korea is an important determinant of the rate of off-farm migration, but this variable is highly correlated with relative sectoral productivities over time. The chief difficulty overlooked by advocates of improved terms of trade for farmers is that

higher crop prices are helpful only to those cultivators who market a major fraction of their crop; small peasants and landless laborers are not benefited and may even be hurt by such a policy (Rahman, 1981). Furthermore, as Gotsch (1974, p. 150) notes, "Less widely appreciated is the fact that in a number of countries, an output-pricing structure aimed at cereal self-sufficiency has had important detrimental effects on rural employment," because high grain prices discourage diversification into more labor-intensive cash crops. It is probable that in certain situations, particularly in a relatively egalitarian and traditional system, higher crop prices will lead to less outmigration while in other situations it may lead to more out-migration. Blair (1977) claims that a doubling the price of rice during the early 1970s led to a reversal of net migration flows in Sierra Leone, although he acknowledges that urban conditions may also have been responsible in part.

Farm mechanization is often said to stimulate rural out-migration by displacing farm labor (Ahmed, 1976; Greenwood, Ladman and Siegel, 1981; Wood, 1983). It is almost a truism that the rapid spread of tractors in many countries, and the alleged displacement of labor accompanying them, is encouraged by subsidized credit for large landowners and by subsidized tractor prices (Gotsch, 1974). However, Silvers and Crosson (1980; 1983), contend on the basis of multivariate regression results that farm mechanization in Mexico significantly reduces out-migration. Stoltman and Ball (1971) also note that mechanization and capital investment in agriculture are statistically associated with less net out-migration in Mexico. Others argue that selective mechanization may in some cases increase labor usage because of increased output and reduction of seasonal bottlenecks (Stout and Downing, 1976). William Cline's (1978) thorough survey of the literature on this topic reaches the conclusion that while many forms of mechanization are in fact labor-displacing, mechanization tends to coincide with the adoption of other cultivation practices which result in no net change in labor usage. Studies from India, Pakistan, and the Philippines reviewed in a monograph of the International Labour Organisation (1973) find no appreciable displacement of labor resulting from Green Revolution or tractorization. Lingard and Bagyo (1983) find that tractor-using farms in West Java use less labor per hectare, but this is entirely accounted for by differences in average farm size.

Agricultural Development

The effect of agricultural development on rural-urban migration depends upon its impacts on: a) incomes of rural small-holders, tenants, and workers; b) demand for agricultural labor; c) displacement of small-holders and tenants; and d) the linkages from increased agricultural incomes to demand for urban goods and services. The

Green Revolution connotes a package of increased inputs including irrigation, fertilizers, and new seed varieties leading in some cases to dramatic increases in the output of certain grains. This form of agricultural development is often said to lead to little or no improvement in the incomes of poorer cultivators and laborers, and in demand for rural labor. Despite frequent pessimistic pronouncements, there is quite a bit of evidence suggesting a major positive effect of high-yielding varieties on rural wages and employment (e.g., Aggarwal, 1974; Hayami, 1981). More seriously, any tendency toward reduction of out-migration through higher incomes may be offset by the possible displacement of small cultivators and by the increased demand for urban employment resulting from the forward linkages from agriculture to the urban sector. Hence, the expected effect of agricultural development on rural-urban migration is indeterminate (Rhoda, 1979; Chan, 1981; Findley, 1981). Summarizing several of the points mentioned above, Gerald Desmond (1975, p. 68) concludes that:

development in agriculture implies more efficient production methods, greater capital investment, more cash crops, changing ownership patterns, new marketing and transport mechanisms. The very process of change involved, as well as the changes themselves, opens up needs and opportunities for urban-oriented work while increasing the income of the populations engaged in primary production...Thus the goals of agricultural development, i.e., increased production for both domestic and export markets, if achieved, lead as surely to greater urbanization as does increased industrial production.

Empirical analyses of the impact of Green Revolution programs in South Asia on migration have yielded mixed findings. An early report on the consequences of a pilot project in the Comilla district of Bangladesh notes: "With the increased demand for labor the tendency of labor to move out of the village has been reduced, as is evidenced by the fact that no family has left during the past two years" (quoted in Owens and Shaw, 1972, p. 95). The Comilla Project was indeed successful on a number of counts, with rates of increase of agricultural production and employment in the Comilla district double those of other districts in Bangladesh. Nevertheless, the 1974 census showed Comilla to have the highest rate of net out-migration of any district in the country (Mueller and Anderson, 1982). Wyon and Gordon (1971, p. 302) calculate that net out-migration from their Punjabi study villages fell sharply between the late 1950s and the late 1960s, which they attribute to improved agricultural conditions. D'Souza (1976, p. 350) notes that Punjab went from having a rate of urbanization well above the national average during 1951-1961 to the lowest rate of any state in India during 1961-1971: "The rate of urbanization was lower because there was a relatively lower rate of rural to urban migration." However, much of this relatively low, net urbanization with the Punjab state may have been caused by the simultaneous influx of

agricultural laborers from other states and urban-bound migration of Punjabis to cities in other states, Punjab not having any major metropolitan area. In the Ludhiana district, the center of the Green Revolution (Aggarwal, 1974), the rate of outmigration appears to have more than doubled between the early 1960s and the early 1970s (Oberai and Singh, 1980). An indirect statistical analysis of net rural outmigration among districts in the state of Madhya Pradesh finds a significantly positive association with agricultural productivity and use of modern inputs (Mishra, 1981).

Despite numerous allegations of Green Revolution policies stimulating ruralurban migration because of displacement of small cultivators and landless laborers. there is little hard evidence.⁶ Havens and Flinn (1975) argue that the introduction of new varieties into a Colombian coffee farming community stimulated out-migration, as 11 of 48 cultivatior families that failed to adopt the varieties lost their land through voluntary sales, six of whom then left for the cities. Considering the normal turnover of land among marginal landowners due to indebtedness, Havens and Flinn have failed to prove their thesis.⁷ Saint and Goldsmith (1980) provide a much more convincing example of technological change displacing the rural poor. The introduction of citrus cultivation into a rural area of northeastern Brazil, with a labor intensity of only onethird that of other crops (tobacco, cassava), appears to have led to a drastic decline in the number of tenants, most of whom are said to have moved to urban areas. According to Saint and Goldsmith (1980, p. 267), the culprit is the Brazilia government: "Stimulated by attractive citrus-specific credit programmes, citrus-focused technical assistance, and citrus-priority agricultural research, citrus production in the region is expanding rapidly." It would be a travesty, though, to compare this capital-intensive, land-extensive type of technological change with the intensification of cereal cultivation which constitutes "Green Revolution" per se.⁸

Numerous agricultural development schemes have been carried out in the developing nations; unfortunately, few have been studied explicitly for their impact on rural-urban migration. We will first consider "success" cases, where the projects are supposed to have had major beneficial impacts upon the participants. De Jonge (1978) discusses a banana cultivation project in Senegal which succeeded in raising incomes substantially, thereby enabling participants to afford to send more children to the city. Colvin (1981) notes that the population included in the Office du Niger project in Mali, one of the largest and most successful agricultural development schemes in Africa, only increased from 32,000 in 1960 to 42,000 in 1975, which implies substantial outmigration. In Malaysia, the West Johore Agricultural Development Project, which includes the provision of extension, credit, marketing, processing, and irrigation

services to participants, has not succeeded at all in curbing out-migration. Paul Chan (1981, p. 423) concludes, "in light of the experiences of other countries, in <u>situ</u> development is unlikely to be effective in retaining population in rural Malaysia unless it is supported by land reform."

Other agricultural development projects studied have failed to slow outmigration in part because they have failed to realize their other goals as well (Mabogunje, 1981). Standing and Sukedo (1977) discuss three types of rural development programs intended to reduce the rural exodus in Guyana: cooperatives, land colonization, and a paramilitary youth corps (also involving land settlement). All have largely been failures in slowing out-migration from rural areas. Bates and Bennett (1974) indicate that differences between districts in spending on agricultural development in Zambia are unrelated to the rate of rural out-migration, which they attribute to the ineffectiveness of official projects. Gregson (1974) estimates that in a rural area of northern Malawi the rate of labor migration fell from 62 percent in 1958 to 43 percent in 1960 after the colonial government abandoned attempts to transform agriculture by discouraging slash-and-burn cultivation.

In Africa during the colonial era, the introduction of small-holder cash cropping into an area frequently entailed a dramatic reduction in seasonal or circular labor outmigration (Read, 1942; Colson, 1960; Uchendu, 1975). One should not infer, as do Bates and Bennett (1974), that the introduction of cash cropping necessarily reduces ruralurban migration. For it is frequently reported that the prosperity resulting from cash cropping stimulates permanent rural-urban migration at the same time it reduces temporary rural-rural migration, in studies from Ghana, Senegal, Mali, Zambia, Malaysia, Papua New Guinea, and the New Hebrides (Hart, 1974; de Jonge, 1978; Mazur, 1982; Colson and Scudder, 1975; Maude, 1981; Ward, 1977; Bonnemaison, 1977). Kuchiba, Tsubouchi, and Maeda (1979, p. 214) assert that in a village in Kelantan, Malaysia, "the introduction of tobacco cultivation has made it easier for young people to remain in the village and allowed migrants to other regions to return either permanently or temporarily." Sally Findley (1981, p. 164) notes that a typical consequence of successful agricultural development is to supplant rural-rural migration by rural-urban migration, with an indeterminant impact on net out-migration. In some cases, where seasonal labor migration is primarily to urban areas, increased agricultural employment results in decreased temporary rural-urban migration. Hugo (1978, p. 305) mentions the case of an irrigation project in West Java which led to a drastic reduction in circular migration to Jakarta of erstwhile becak drivers.

A number of statistical analyses of rural out-migration have included cash cropping variables; their findings indicate that some cash crops (in some situations)

lead to less net out-migration from a given rural area. Connell et al. (1976, p. 176) find for a sample of Indian villages that migration appears to be negatively related to the extent of cash cropping, while at the same time positively related to the degree of commercialization (percentage of output marketed). For a sample of eleven West Sumatran villages, Maude (1979) finds a correlation of -0.59 between the frequency of migration and the proportion of households selling part of their agricultural produce. Stoltman and Ball (1971), however, find that in Mexico the degree of commercialization appears unrelated to the rate of out-migration from rural communities. Harris (1974) finds that cash crop income per capita is unrelated to out-migration from districts in Papua New Guinea. Munro (1974) finds that in Turkey, lifetime outmigration is negatively associated with the proportion of land devoted to industrial crops (cotton and tobacco), but unrelated to the cultivation of fruit and nuts. Using a different model specification and data set, Lieberman (1980) finds out-migration in Turkey (as indicated by the adult sex ratio) to be inversely related to the cultivation of citrus fruits and tobacco, directly related to the cultivation of tea, and unrelated to the cultivation of cotton and hazelnuts. Wasow (1981) finds tea cultivation to be associated with net in-migration in rural Kenya (as proxied by the adult sex ratio), while no association is found for other cash crops. Unfortunately, none of these studies appears to distinguish between rural-rural and rural-urban migration.

Agrarian Structure and Reform

A small-farmer approach to agricultural development might be expected to lead to less out-migration than a large-scale capitalist strategy because of the greater labor absorptive capacity of the former. This statement is based on the universal finding in LDCs that small cultivators use significantly greater labor input per unit of land than is used on large holdings (Berry and Cline, 1979). The introduction of largescale "agribusiness" in Iran during the late 1960s and early 1970s is said to have displaced large numbers of former cultivators; by 1973 such farms occupied 15 percent of all cultivated land in Iran while employing only 0.3 percent of the agricultural work force (Mohtadi, 1982). However, in both Malawi and Chile during the 1970s a rapid expansion of large-scale capitalist agriculture together with a contraction and apparent immiseration of peasant agriculture has been accompanied by low rates of rural-urban migration (Kydd and Christiansen, 1982; McKee and Hibler, 1981). In both cases, the responsible factor seems to have been depressed urban wages and employment conditions, together with relatively easy employment availability in the expanding rural capitalist sector.

Agrarian or land reform is often mentioned as a policy option for slowing rural out-migration. Tuma (1970, p. 175) asserts that agrarian reform must have reduced rural-urban migration in several Middle Eastern nations, but he is forced to acknowledge that "it is not clear how much agrarian reform policies have inhibited migration." The Iragi land reform of 1958 is said to have led to an acceleration in migration to Baghdad, as the state was unable to maintain the standard of cultivation (Fernea, 1969). Reform in Iran seems to have spurred rural-urban migration in two different ways. First, according to Craig (1978, p. 153), "The irony of land reform is that it did away with the absentee landlord only to replace him with a new class of peasant proprietors, most of whom promptly left Nasrin for the cities." Second, landless laborers who did not obtain land were forced out by lack of employment (Connell, 1974). Mohtadi (1982) demonstrates via regression analysis how land reform in Iran was associated with greater volumes of rural-urban migration in both of these ways. Algeria has had two waves of agrarian reform, one in the 1960s with the conversion of colonial estates into collectives, and a second in the 1970s with the redistribution of medium-sized parcels into peasant cooperatives. While no direct information is available as to consequences for migration, the urban population share more than doubled between 1960 and 1980, from 30 to 61 percent, far outpacing neighboring Tunisia and Morocco (Cleaver, 1982, p. 12).

Agrarian reforms can be divided into two types: distributivist and collectivist, with the latter usually emphasized by socialist-leaning regimes (Lipton, 1974).⁹ Distributivist reforms rely on household cultivation, including peasant cooperatives, and frequently involve a change in title more than in agrarian structure. In practice distributivist land reforms usually exclude landless laborers and instead only benefit an already relatively advantaged group. "Land to the tiller" legistlation, moreover, provides strong incentives for landowners to displace tenants and laborers (Herring, 1983). Examples of reforms which are said to have caused greater displacement of laborers and out-migration in these ways include Egypt, Iran, Kenya, Ecuador, and other Latin American countries (Warringer, 1969; Connell, 1974; Bezzababeh, 1981; Peek, 1980; Peek and Standing, 1979). On the other hand, the abolition of tenancy in a Peruvian mountain village is said to have led to a surge in return migration, as urban migrants sought to protect their landownership rights; David Guillet (1976, p. 301) suggests that "other agrarian reforms which include clauses prohibiting indirect usufruct can be expected to have the same demographic effect." Agrarian reform in revolutionary Ethiopia is said to have also resulted in the return of seasonal migrants who were anxious to claim land, so that the government has had to recruit urban residents to work on its own state farms (Bezzababeh, 1981, p. 40).

Collectivist land reforms, including those of Algeria, Bolivia, Chile, and Peru, have likewise failed to incorporate the bulk of the landless and near-landless rural populations. Reform beneficiaries on the new collectives or cooperatives have an incentive to restrict the use of outside labor (Berry, 1971). For example, members of Peruvian sugar-producing cooperatives have enjoyed increased consumption by refusing membership privileges to others, including the younger generation, thereby forcing the latter to leave the area (Simmons, Diaz-Briquets and Laquian, p. 104-05). In the case of the Chilean land reform, employment increased by 25 percent over prereform levels, but only a small minority of the rural population benefited (Cline, 1978). In the case of Peru's reform: "The agrarian reform did have some positive effect on employment, although far less than anticipated. The 0.9 percent yearly rate of employment growth achieved between 1969 and 1978 is almost three times the annual rate of male employment growth from 1961 to 1972. Owing to agriculture's still low rate of absorption of labour, its high rate of rural out-migraiton continued" (Kay, 1982, p. 161). The expropriation of certain haciendas in Bolivia during the 1950s is said to have led to net in-migration, albeit at the expense of a substantial reduction in labor productivity (Burke, 1970), but it is unclear to what extent this is generalizable even within Bolivia. More typically, the pre-1969 "agrarian reform" in the neighboring area of Peru, together with minimum wage legislation, led landowners to expel campesinos from the land.

The Mexican agrarian reform, with its unique blend of distributivist and collectivist elements, is often discussed in connection with rural out-migration: "There can be little doubt that the <u>ejido</u> program serves as a deterrent to rural-urban migration" (Bussey, 1973, p. 37). At present, at least, this is doubtful, as evidence indicates that rates of out-migration are equivalent from <u>ejido</u> and non-<u>ejido</u> areas alike (King, 1978). Ian Scott (1982, p. 46) notes that the share of crop-land held by the traditional peasant communities in Mexico rose from 13 percent in 1930 to 47 percent in 1940; he suggests, "One important aspect of the resurgence of the <u>ejido</u> system was that it helped slow migration from rural to urban areas, if only temporarily, and it caused many of those who had already migrated to cities to return to the countryside." Urban growth in Mexico was indeed considerably slower in the 1930s than it had been in the 1920s, or was to be in the 1940s (Scott, 1982, p. 50), but it is impossible to disentangle the effect of land reform from that of slowdown in urban economic activity.

Land Colonization

Another type of program which is often suggested as having an impact on ruralurban migration is land colonization. The idea is that people who might otherwise be

19

driven to cities by land hunger may be diverted to newly cultivated areas.¹⁰ Official land colonization in Malaysia is said by some to have had a major inhibiting effect on urbanization (Simmons, 1979; Chan, 1981), although it has been pointed out that the program has absorbed something on the order of only one-twentieth of the growth in the population (Peacock, 1981). Furthermore, it is pointed out that since participants are forbidden to divide their land among their children, the rate of out-migration in succeeding generations probably will exceed that of nonproject areas (Gosling, 1982). Similarly, the Dry Zone colonization schemes in Sri Lanka, among the most ambitious in Asia, have absorbed only 6-7 percent of the annual increment to the labor force, despite accounting for a very large proportion of total development expenditures (Richards and Gooneratne, 1980).¹¹ Oberai (1981) notes that both of these countries have had extraordinarily low rates of urban growth, which he attributes to official land colonization, but the limited numbers involved belie his contention. In the case of the Philippines, Laquian (1975) notes that there has been massive spontaneous resettlement stimulated in part by official schemes and their attendant infrastructure, even though the official program has been less successful.

The experiences of land settlement programs elsewhere are similar, although usually on a smaller scale. In Ethiopia and Paraguay, massive spontaneous rural resettlement has been associated with very low rates of urbanization (Wood, 1982; Gillespie, 1983), but in both cases this process coincided with almost total official neglect of rural development. In general, it is very difficult to find examples of official land colonization having appreciable impacts on slowing rural-urban migration (Findley, 1977; Peek and Standing, 1979). Despite totalling 40-60 percent of Egyptian public investment in agriculture since 1952, only 56,000 families had been settled in the various New Land schemes by 1978, with 1,500,000 rural landless families remaining (Voll, 1980). Land reclamation has been even less successful in Iraq (Fernea, 1969). In Brazil there have been some notable successes in privately-sponsored land development, but governmental colonization schemes largely appear to have been failures (Katzman, 1978). Provision of basic infrastructure by government is said to have attracted large numbers of migrants to frontier areas in a number of Latin American countries (Jones, 1980; Bahrin, 1981). In general, the assessment of Barraclough and Domike (1966, p. 410-11) appears to be still valid: "Attempts to colonize new areas have been slow and costly, leaving the agrarian problems unresolved... The evidence indicates that official colonization activities do not compare favorably with settlement which occurs spontaneously without governmental aid."

Land colonization schemes in Africa are said to have affected very few people, been extremely costly, and often been ineffective (Adepoju, 1982). Kabera (1982, p.

199), on the other hand, contends that in Uganda, "aided resettlement schemes had played a major role in acting as magnets attracting both aided and voluntary migrants." In Africa targeted youth settlement is often advocated as a means of stemming urban-bound migration. Hutton (1973) mentions a rural development project in western Uganda which was supposedly successful in holding some educated youth in agriculture. However, Kabera (1982, p. 119) notes that this scheme attracted barely 100 youths in five years; he concludes, "It is evident that youth settlement schemes have not had much impact on the flow of population to rural areas and have not solved the problem of school-leavers migrating to urban centres." Hyden (1980, p. 198-99) cites examples of youth settlement schemes in Benin and Nigeria which have also been costly failures.

Rural Amenities

We are frequently told that "in country after country, one of the incentives for rural out-migrants is the attraction of better education, health, water and sanitation, and communication facilities in urban areas" (Findley, 1977, p. 78). Todaro and Stilkind (1981, p. 36) conclude, "Far better are policies that encourage people to stay in rural areas because health, education, and incomes are improving faster there than in the cities." According to Sidney Goldstein (1979, p. 31), however, "although improved housing, sanitation, water supply, and access to health and educational facilities among many others, can in themselves be justified as essential, there is no strong evidence that such improvements in the rural way of life will actually result in less migration to cities." In fact, it is suggested that this may even stimulate further migration by inducing villagers to expect progressively higher quality amenities (World Bank, 1972, p. 26; Pryor, 1979, p. 25; Adepoju, 1982). Mojtahed (1980) and Sombutsiri (1980) find that the provision of public services is quantitatively unrelated to rates of rural-urban migration in Iran and Thailand, respectively.

The suggestion is frequently made that rural-oriented curricula and non-formal education should inhibit urban-bound migration. However, "no amount of formal technical, vocational, or agricultural instruction alone is going to check the movement from the rural areas...the crucial variables lie, instead in the structure of incentives within the economic system" (Foster, 1965, p. 153). Rural education projects in Uganda and Nigeria have failed to keep students in rural areas because of inadequate employment opportunities (de Wilde, 1971; Austin, 1976). According to Gould (1975, p. 262), "A physical separation of schools and urban areas would probably have a similar, negligible effect as attempts to have a rural-based rather than an urban-based curriculum have had, for the education system mirrors rather than engineers society."

Philip Foster (1965, p. 160) comments caustically, "Reciting rote formulas about new curricula, which will not detach children from the rural environment is merely an excuse for lack of reflection. The schools will detach children from the rural environment largely irrespective of what they teach." A decade and a half of research can add little to the following conclusion (United Nations, 1968, p. 40): "Programmes of formal and informal education, better housing, etc., with stress on self-help schemes, have been encouraged in many rural areas. However, the effect of raising the expectations of rural people, instead of keeping them where they are, has often resulted in stimulating a move to the cities."

Rural Infrastructure and Employment

Public works programs are often suggested as offering a palliate to rural economic pressures. In a true emergency situation, provision of public relief is indeed crucial in minimizing the uprooting of the rural population; public works employment appears to have served this function on occasions of drought in northeastern Brazil (Hirschman, 1973, p. 46). According to August Schumacher (1983, p. 142), in Mexico "the current government rural works strategy is a reasonable public policy to gain time until the organizational and technical research bottlenecks to a more vibrant smallholder based food system are dealt with." However, Burki et al. (1976, p. 17) observe that "slowing the rate of rural-urban migration is an explicit objective of Pakistan's Rural Works Program, Morocco's Promotion Nationale, and Indonesia's Kabupaten Program...While the evidence is not conclusive, it can be inferred that rural public works might increase migration flows." Michael Mertaugh (1976) finds no statistical association between the prevalence of public works employment and rates of ruralurban migration in Morocco. Upon completion of the project, workers may be likely to take their new skills to urban areas to seek employment (Rhoda, 1979). In the case of a Peruvian hydroelectric project, workers engaged in its construction were subsequently much more likely to migrate to urban areas (Doughty, 1972). Hashim (1978) notes that the introduction of major highway and dam construction projects into a rural area of Perak state has helped wean Malay peasants away from agriculture and contributed to a desire for further nonagricultural employment.

The impact of roads on migration is indeterminate. A typical consequence of improved transportation is a surge in migration because of greater ease of access to distant labor markets. Acting against this, however, is the increased opportunity for earning cash incomes because of access to urban markets, and the greater ability to utilize the services and amenities of nearby urban areas while retaining rural residence. Some studies report that villages close to major roads have higher outmigration rates, including studies from Ghana and Sierra Leone (Caldwell, 1969; Blair, 1977). Other studies report the opposite, including studies from Nigeria, Bangladesh, Indonesia, and Papua New Guinea (Goddard, 1974; Chaudhury, 1978; Kano, 1981; Conroy, 1977), while Connell et al. (1976) and Udall (1981) report no association between distance from roads and out-migration from villages in India and Colombia.

An extensive road network together with compact settlement patterns can also lead to commuting from villages to urban centers. Areas in which commuting is particularly prevalent include Sri Lanka and Java (Oberai, 1981; Hugo, 1978). Mishra (1981) finds that in Madhya Pradesh the presence of infrastructural investment (e.g., road density, nonindustrial use of electricity) is associated with less rural outmigration, which the author attributes to the facilitation of commuting. Similarly, Mojtahed (1980) finds that high-speed roads in rural areas in Iran appear to be associated with less out-migration. A number of researchers have observed that rural areas in close proximity to urban centers frequently have lower rates of migration than more remote rural communities (Singh et al., 1980; Udall, 1981).

A key factor in the potential for infrastructural investment to slow outmigration is the responsiveness of new nonagricultural unemployment. Electricity generation in the Philippines does not appear to have inhibited rural-urban migration, except where it has led to new rural nonagricultural employment (Findley, 1981, p. 156). Sen (1982) concludes, on the basis of a number of project evaluations from India, that rural electrification has significantly increased employment in rural areas, by encouraging increased irrigation and by stimulating nonagricultural employment. In Indonesia, on the other hand, electricity usage in rural areas appears to be almost strictly for consumption purposes.

Using infrastructure to extend employment in rural areas may be beyond the control of planners. Doughty (1972, p. 32) relates that in the case of the electrification of a small rural town in the Peruvian Andes, in which local entrepreneurs quickly electrified flour mills and woodworking shops, the "net effect of their adventures was to drive some producers out of business, but not to develop any new sources of income or employment." Most of the mills and shops shut down, and workers lost employment. "Thus, paradoxically, the result of 'industrial' electrical usage was to reduce the number of persons employed in nonagricultural occupations." Similarly, while in the vicinity of Yogyakarta in Java, villages near trunk roads are expanding through new enterprises (Kano, 1981); this is not easily transferable to less well-situated areas. A USAID rural roads project in Western Kenya seems to have resulted in almost no new employment due to unpromising economic conditions there

(Roberts et al., 1982). If a rural area is close to urban markets and complementary inputs are made available, infrastructural investment can spur development, while in more remote areas it remains ineffectual (Sen, 1982).

Off-farm Employment and Decentralized Urbanization

Many suggest that nonfarm employment in general offers the best outlet for potential migrants (Anderson and Leiserson, 1980; Colvin, 1981; Todaro and Stilkind, 1981). Rural nonfarm employment is more important than is often realized. Chuta and Liedholm (1979) review evidence indicating that in Africa, Asia, and Latin Ameria alike 20-30 percent of the rural labor force is dependent upon nonfarm employment, including manufacturing, commerce, services, construction, and transportation.¹² Manufacturing enterprises are chiefly artisanal and employ few workers, with clothing and woodworking the largest activities. Wilcock and Chuta (1982) note that 85 percent of the manufacturing employment in their rural Upper Volta study, is in traditional crafts or food processing which are rapidly declining in face of competition from factory goods. Likewise, in the Yogyakarta district of Java, where the 1971 census recorded almost 40 percent of the rural work force engaged in nonagricultural employment, there has been a sharp decline in traditional cottage industries (Kano, In rural Mexico, the practice of artisanal crafts and food processing is 1981). associated with significantly less out-migration from a village, but these industries are withering away due to changing tastes (Arizpe, 1981).

What is needed are modern small-scale, labor-intensive rural industries, but successful intervention programs are hard to find. A pilot project along these lines in Sri Lanka is described by Gunasekera and Codippily (1977). India has had a nation-wide Rural Industries Project for two decades now, but during its first decade it generated less than 100,000 jobs at best, most of which are located in towns of over 15,000, contrary to policy. A separate policy of locating industrial estates in rural areas has resulted in extremely low occupancy rates (de Haan, 1980). An attempt to induce new private industries in the Bicol River Basin Development Project in the Philippines has been almost a total failure, due in part to lack of local entrepreneurial drive and inadequate infrastructure (Sommer et al., 1982, p. 12). Examples of "spontaneous" forms of rural industrialization can sometimes be found. The introduction of carpetweaving into rural areas of Khorassan province in Iran during the 1960s resulted in a reduction of rural out-migration, especially in villages with carpet-weaving cooperatives (Ehlers, 1977, p. 293). However, even modern cottage industries represent at best a transitional phase. In South Korea and Taiwan, nonfactory production in rural areas has steadily declines, while factories located in rural areas have become more important (Ho, 1982).

Some note that since perhaps a majority of "rural" off-farm employment is actually located in urban centers, this could not be considered an antidote to urbanization (Rhoda, 1979). It has been argued that the rapid increase in nonfarm employment by members of rural households in Taiwan has significantly held down the rate of rural-urban migration (Chinn, 1979; Ho, 1979). In the case of Taiwan, most "rural" nonfarm employment is in urban areas with commuting to urban areas taking place while rural residence is retained (Wu, 1976); this result is akin to that obtained through conscious actions by socialist governments in Eastern Europe (Fallenbuchl, 1977). The Ludhiana district of the Indian Punjab has developed a dense network of small-scale hosiery and engineering goods industries, with the workers commuting by bus from surrounding villages. As a result (Aggarwal, 1974, p. 380), "In the villages of our study nearly half of the traditionally labor households have completely abandoned agricultural work. Even in the families that still do farm labor, many younger men have taken up nonagricultural employment." A recent statistical analysis of migration from cantons in Costa Rica finds that rural nonfarm employment is associated with less out-migration (Schneider-Sliwa, 1982).

Decentralized industrialization is unfortunately rare among developing countries; typically one or two metropolitan areas account for the majority of modern manufacturing employment. Puerto Rico, Taiwan, and Japan have been singled out as having successfully dispersed manufacturing industries (Owens and Shaw, 1972, p. 117). Similarly, Israel appears to have achieved an unusual degree of urban and industrial deconcentration (Israel, 1969). Large-scale industry needs a critical mass of infrastructure and support services. According to Shaw (1978), there is an international consensus that the minimum size for a city to act as a counter magnet is 200,000+. Shaw (1978) argues for the creation of distinct regional poles; Simmons (1979) and Sternstein (1979) recommend the creation of new industrial centers in proximity to existing urban centers. It should be noted that others emphasize instead rural "market towns" of 20,000-50,000 intended to exploit backward and forward linkages with agriculture (Johnson, 1970; Brutzkus, 1975; Ruddle and Rondinelli, 1979; Anderson and Leiserson, 1980). While any discussion of decentralized urbanization lies largely outside the scope of this paper, it should be noted that there is little quantitative evidence on these issues. According to one study, the Khon Kaen "growth pole" of northeastern Thailand, despite heavy central government investment, appears to have resulted in increased out-migration (Sternstein, 1979).

CONCLUSION

Both the theoretical arguments and the empirical evidence on the impact of rural development on rural-urban migration and urbanization yield a mixed picture. Plausible arguments can be advanced for why rural development either should or should not be associated with reduced rates of rural-urban migration, and some evidence can be adduced to support either position. The results of cross-sectional migration studies, by and large, suggest that rural development may be relatively ineffective in slowing the rural exodus. The time-series literature on rural-urban migration is still sparse, for obvious reasons, but a number of studies support the existence of an association between agricultural development and reduced rural-urban migration. The majority of cross-national models which have been estimated conclude that agricultural development slows rural-urban migration. However, the specific policy interventions reviewed in the second half of this paper do not offer much hope of appreciable impacts on rural emigration. Land colonization appears fairly promising, but only if it is largely spontaneous and only under certain special conditions (e.g., abundant land not requiring extensive preparation for cultivation). Decentralized industrialization offers the most promise, but this may be considered more in the domain of regional and urban planning; unfortunately, there is little evidence that industrial decentralization policies have had any more impact on rural-urban migration than have rural development policies per se (Ayres, 1983).

While the present study offers some very limited and mixed support for those who argue that one of the merits of rural development may be to inhibit rural-urban migration, the dominant note is one of skepticism. At best we have some evidence that in the short run, higher growth in rural earnings may reduce net rural-urban migration. Even those statistical studies cited as supporting the potential importance of rural development find urban earnings, employment, or population share to dominate as determinants of rural-urban migration flows. The experience of a number of countries indicates that successful rural development and a reduction in rural-urban disparities may go hand-in-hand with acceleration in rural-urban migration. Hence, while rural development is certainly worthwhile in its own right, I concur with Ernesto Pernia (1977, p. 143) "that rural development may not and should not be considered as an antidote to urbanization." Or, as Sally Findley (1981, p. 164) concludes, "It appears that keeping rural population on the farm is an inappropriate goal for integrated rural development schemes."

NOTES

¹This paper (revised June 1983), while reaching some conclusions similar to those found in the excellent surveys by Rhoda and Findley, is substantially different in a number of respects, particularly in its focus on quantitative analyses of economic determinants of migration. A deliberate attempt has been made in the second half of the paper to avoid overlap with previous studies, and only rarely have references been taken over without being consulted directly. Any errors of interpretation are thus those of the present author.

Since this paper was prepared, it has come to the author's attention that a summarized version of Richard Rhoda's survey has been published in the <u>International</u> Migration Review (Spring 1983 issue).

²This report does not refer to the innumerable migration studies which ask migrants why they chose to move. Almost invariably, it is found that the majority of adults report moving for economic reasons (see Brigg, 1973; Findley, 1977). The attempt to use these findings to distinguish between "push" and "pull" motives is pointless, for poor and affluent migrants alike cite negative conditions in their places of origin and positive conditions in their places of destination as reasons for moving (Haq and Rehman, 1975).

³Connell et al. (1976) have become famous for their emphasis on income inequality as a determinant of out-migration. According to Michael Lipton (1980, p. 4), the most prominent and prolific author of the group, "the deficit farmers and landless labourers -- though seldom the very poorest, who cannot afford the initial cost of movement -- tend to be pushed out, as they would not if inequality in the village were less. The sons of the bigger farmers -- though seldom the biggest, who must guard their assets, and who have enough for all their sons to prosper rurally -- tend to be pulled out, assisted in bearing the costs of urban education or urban job search by the bigger rural surpluses generated by village inequality." To put the statement in testable form, (Lipton, 1982, p. 20), "if we ranked villagers into ten equally sized groups by income per person, migrants would probably be likeliest to come from the second poorest and third poorest groups -- and from the second richest and third richest groups." Readers should be advised that these statements are not generally valid, even for South Asia which provided the bulk of the data used in their study. For example, Connell et al. (1976, p. 23) cite Sovani (1966) as one of their sources for this generalization, yet he fails to corroborate their claims. In one case (p. 71), the percentage of households with out-migrants is 59 percent for the bottom 80 percent of households ranked by income, 71 percent for the net 15 percent of households and 65 percent for the most affluent 5 percent. In another case (p. 145) there is a consistently negative association, with the proportion of households having outmigrants declining monotonically from 30 percent among the poorest 9 percent of households to 16, 11, 9, and 8 percent among successively higher income classes. In the third study (p. 145) 40 percent of the bottom 5 percent and the top 1 percent of households have out-migrants, while the proportions for other income classes ranges from 2.4 to 6.5 percent, being highest in the middle of the income distribution!

Other studies from South Asia also fail to corroborate Lipton's assertions. Chaudhury (1978) finds that in rural Bangladesh out-migration is highest from the two extremes of the income distribution, <u>not</u> intermediate strata, while among cultivator households there is a monotonically positive association between size of landholding and probability of out-migration. Singh et al. (1980) observe on the basis of data from nineteen villages in Uttar Pradesh that there is a very strong and monotonically positive association between economic status and out-migration.

⁴However, a number of studies which use earnings ratios or differentials to predict interarea migration find statistically insignificant coefficients, including studies from Zimbabwe, Thailand, Iran, and Mexico (Mitchell, 1975; Thavornjit, 1977; Mojtahed, 1980; Gordon and Theobald, 1981). Alternatively, it is possible to estimate models of net in-migration using data on income for only the area in question. Carvajal and Geithman (1974), and Fields (1979) demonstrate that higher incomes are associated with higher rates of net in-migration to communities in Costa Rica and Colombia. Fields notes in his sample that, average income is almost perfectly correlated (r = +0.92) with the percentage of white-collar workers.

⁵A number of other studies (e.g., Curtain, 1975; Mitchell, 1975) find that within traditional agricultural systems more ecologically favored zones tend to have significantly lower rates of out-migration. Unfortunately, this offers no policy interventions for rural development planners.

⁶Brown and Sanders (1981, p. 171) infer that Gotsch (1972) found that "in the Bangladesh study area, the tubewell's impacts were more evenly distributed, the egalitarian nature of social organization was strengthened, and out-migration was minimal, whereas in the Pakistan study area social class disparities in both income and power were aggravated leading to extensive out-migration." Gotsch himself makes no such claims regarding migration in his article; ironically, his Bangladesh sample was from the Comilla area, the area of highest rural out-migration in all of Bangladesh.

⁷Ironically, Wimberly, Flinn and Berry, (1983) note that in this Colombian coffee farming community, out-migration is significantly greater from those households adopting the new varieties than from nonadopting households. Moreover, this community had a lower out-migration rate than either of the other two communities studied.

⁸Goldstein (1979) and Findley (1981, p. 144) unfortunately lump both together as examples of "the capital-intensive agricultural development strategy that characterized most rural development programmes designed before the mid-1970s." They claim that there has been a shift to "integrated rural development programmes" which "emphasize human resource development, employment and equity concerns." While there has indeed been a change in rhetoric, with the latter being a fair sample of the "catch words" current among development experts in the late 1970s, there is little evidence of any actual change in rural development programs.

⁹This report does not attempt to cover the experiments of developing nations with totalitarian socialist regimes. First of all, as Richard Curtain (1975, p. 290) puts it, "the Maoist and Cuban strategies of decentralization can be seen only in their totality; any attempt to abstract and apply their policies in a piecemeal fashion elsewhere will be unsuccessful." More fundamentally, it is almost impossible to disentangle the effects of increased rural-urban balance from restrictions on individual mobility, employment, and housing. Interested readers are referred to Simmons (1981) for a highly favorable account of the Cuban experience.

¹⁰However, it is not clear that the same kind of migrants are attracted to rural settlement areas as to cities; the former tend to be whole households while the latter tend to be single, young people (Goldstein, 1979).

¹¹However, "village expansion" schemes apparently have had a greater impact than Dry Zone colonization and at lower cost. By 1969 both types of land reclamation together accounted for one-fourth of all agricultural land in Sri Lanka and nearly a fifth of the rural population (Herring, 1983, p. 150).

¹²A United Nations report (1980) suggests that rural nonagricultural employment generally increases with level of development, but that in Latin America an unexpectedly small fraction of rural employment is in nonagricultural activities, which may be related to the much higher rates of urbanization in Latin America.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, Dale W. "Rural Migration and Agricultural Development in Colombia," Economic Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 17, no. 4 (July 1969): 527-539.
- Adams, Nassau A. "Internal Migration in Jamaica: An Economic Analysis," <u>Economic</u> and Social Studies, Vol. 18, no. 2 (June 1969): 137-151.
- Adepoju, Aderanti. "Population Redistribution: A Review of Government Policies," John I. Clarke and Leszek A. Kosinski (eds.), <u>Redistribution of Population in</u> Africa. London: Heineman, 1982.
- Aggarwal, Partap. "Green Revolution and Employment in Ludhiana, Punjab, India," Edgar O. Edwards (ed.), <u>Employment in Developing Nations</u>. New York: Columbia University Press, 1974.
- Ahmed, Iftikhar. "The Green Revolution and Tractorization: Their Mutual Relations and Socio-Economic Effects," <u>International Labour Review</u>, Vol. 114, no. 1 (July/August 1976): 83-93.
- Anderson, Dennis and Leiserson, Mark W. "Rural Nonfarm Employment in Developing Countries," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 28, no. 2 (January 1980): 227-248.
- Arizpe, Lourdes. "The Rural Exodus in Mexico and Mexican Emigration to the United States," International Migration Review, Vol. 15, no. 4 (Winter 1981): 626-649.
- Austin, Vincent. "Approaches to Rural Development: Lessons of a Pilot Project in Nigeria," International Labour Review, Vol. 114, no. 1 (July/August 1976): 61-68.
- Ayres, Robert L. <u>Banking on the Poor: The World Bank and World Poverty</u>. Cambridge (Massachusetts): MIT Press, 1983.
- Bahrin, Tunku Shamsul. "Review and Evaluation of Attempts to Direct Migrants to Frontier Areas Through Land Colonization Schemes," in <u>Population Distribution</u> <u>Policies in Development Planning</u>. Population Studies No. 75, Department of International Economic and Social Affairs. New York: United Nations, 1981.
- Balan, Jorge. "Migrant-Native Socioeconomic Differences in Latin American Cities: A Structural Analysis," <u>Latin American Research Review</u>, Vol. 4, no. 1 (Spring 1969): 3-29.
- Banerjee, Biswajit and Kanbur, S.M. "On the Specification and Estimation of Macro Rural-Urban Migration Functions: With an Application to Indian Data," Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 43, no. 1 (February 1981): 7-29.
- Barraclough, Solon L. and Domike, Arthur L. "Agrarian Structure in Seven Latin American Countries," Land Economics, Vol. 42, no. 4 (November 1966): 391-424.
- Barnum, Howard N. and Sabot, Russell H. "Education, Employment Probabilities and Rural-Urban Migration in Tanzania," <u>Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics</u>, Vol. 39, no. 2 (May 1977): 109-126.

- Bates, Robert H. <u>Rural Responses to Industrialization: A Study of Village Zambia</u>. New Haven (Connecticut): Yale University Press, 1976.
- ----- and Bennett, Bruce W. "Determinants of the Rural Exodus in Zambia: A Study of Intercensal Migration, 1963-1969," <u>Cahiers d'Etudes Africaines</u>, Vol. 14, no. 3 (1974): 543-564.
- Beals, Ralph E.; Levy, Mildred B. and Moses, Leon N. "Rationality and Migration in Ghana," <u>Review of Economics and Statistics</u>, Vol. 49, no. 5 (November 1967): 480-486.
- Behrman, Jere R. and Wolfe, Barbara L. "Micro Determinants of Female Migration in a Developing Country: Are Labor Market or Marriage Market Considerations More Important?" Paper presented at Annual Meeting of the Population Association of America, San Diego (California), 1982.
- Berry, R. Albert. "Land Reform and the Agricultural Income Distribution," <u>Pakistan</u> <u>Development Review</u>, Vol. 11, no. 1 (Spring 1971): 30-44.
- ----- and Cline, William R. <u>Agrarian Structure and Productivity in Developing</u> Countries. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1979.
- ----- and Sabot, Russell H. "Labour Market Performance in Developing Countries: A Survey," <u>World Development</u>, Vol. 6, no. 11-12 (November/December 1978): 1199-1242.
- Bezzababeh, Muluguetta. "A Review of the Recent Trends in Agrarian Reform and Rural Development in Tropical Africa," <u>Land Reform, Land Settlements and</u> <u>Cooperatives</u>, no. 1-2 (1981): 2-71.
- Bilsborrow, R.E. and Winegarden, C.R. "Interrelationships Between Demographic Change and Agricultural Development: A Cross-Country Econometric Exploration." Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Population Association of America, San Diego (California), 1982.
- Bishop, C.E. "Economic Aspects of Migration from Farms in the United States," in <u>The</u> <u>Farmer and Migration in the United States</u>. Papers presented at a research workshop, Agricultural Policy Institute, North Carolina State College, Raleigh (North Carolina), 1961.
- Blair, James A.S. "Migration of Agricultural Manpower in Sierra Leone," <u>Tijdschrift</u> voor Economische en Sociale Geografie, Vol. 68, no. 4 (1977): 198-210.
- Bonnemaison, Joel. "The Impact of Population Patterns and Cash Cropping on Urban Migration in the New Hebrides," <u>Pacific Viewpoint</u>, Vol. 18, no. 2 (September 1977): 119-132.
- Brigg, Pamela. "Some Economic Interpretations of Case Studies of Urban Migration in Developing Countries." World Bank Staff Working Paper No. 151. Washington, D.C.: 1973.
- Brown, Lawrence A. and Sanders, Rickie L. "Toward a Development Paradigm of Migration, with Particular Reference of Third World Settings," in Gordon F. De Jong and Robert W. Gardner (eds.), <u>Migration Decision Making</u>. <u>Multidisciplinary</u> <u>Approaches to Microlevel Studies in Developed and Developing Countries</u>. New York: Pergamon Press, 1981.

- Browning, Harley L. and Feindt, Waltraut. "Selectivity of Migrants to a Metropolis in a Developing Country: A Mexican Case Study," <u>Demography</u>, Vol. 6, no. 4 (November 1969): 347-358.
- Brutzkus, Eliezer. "Centralized vs. Decentralized Patterns of Urbanization in Developing Countries: An Attempt to Elucidate a Guideline Principle," Economic Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 23, no. 4 (July 1975): 633-652.
- Burford, Roger L. "Internal Migration in a Developing Economy: The Case of Taiwan," Annals of Regional Science, Vol. 4, no. 2 (December 1970): 80-89.
- Burke, Melvin. "Land Reform and Its Effect upon Production and Productivity in the Lake Titicaca Region," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 18, no. 3 (April 1970): 410-450.
- Burki, S.J.; Davies, D.G.; Hook, R.H.; and Thomas, J.W. "Public Works Programs in Developing Countries: A Comparative Analysis." World Bank Staff Working Paper No. 224. Washington, D.C.: 1976.
- Bussey, Ellen M. <u>The Flight from Rural Poverty -- How Nations Cope</u>. Lexington (Massachusetts): Lexington, 1973.
- Byerlee, Derek R.; Tommy, Joseph L.; and Fattoo, Habib. "Rural-Urban Migration in Sierra Leone: Determinants and Policy Implications." African Rural Economy Paper No. 13. East Lansing: Michigan State University, 1976.
- Caldwell, John C. <u>African Rural-Urban Migration</u>: The Movement to Ghana's Towns. New York: Columbia University Press, 1969.
- Carvajal, Manuel J. and Geithman, David T. "An Economic Analysis of Migration in Costa Rica," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 23, no. 1 (October 1974): 105-122.
- Chan, Paul. "Migration-Related Policies in Peninsular Malaysia," in G.W. Jones and H.V. Richter (eds.), <u>Population Mobility and Development</u>: <u>Southeast Asia and</u> <u>the Pacific</u>. Canberra: Australian National University Press, 1981.
- Chaudhury, Rafiqul H. "Determinants and Consequences of Rural Out-migration: Evidence from Some Villages in Bangladesh," in <u>Conference on Economic and</u> <u>Demographic Change: Issues for the 1980s</u>, Helsinki 1978. Solicited Papers. Liege (Belgium): International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, 1978.
- Chinn, Dennis L. "Rural Poverty and the Structure of Farm Household Income in Developing Countries: Evidence from Taiwan," <u>Economic Development and</u> Cultural Change, Vol. 27, no. 2 (January 1979): 282-301.
- Chuta, Enyinna and Liedholm, Carl. "Rural Non-farm Employment: A Review of the State of the Art," Rural Development Paper No. 4. East Lansing: Michigan State University, 1979.
- Cleaver, Kevin M. "The Agricultural Development Experience of Algeria, Morocco, and Tunisia," World Bank Staff Working Paper No. 552. Washington, D.C.: 1982.

- Cline, William R. "Policy Instruments for Rural Income Distribution," in Charles R. Frank, Jr. and Richard C. Webb (eds.), <u>Income Distribution and Growth in the</u> <u>Less-Developed Countries</u>. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution, 1978.
- Colson, Elizabeth. "Migration in Africa: Trends and Possibilities," in F. Lorimer and M. Karp (eds.), Population in Africa. Boston: Boston University Press, 1960.
- ----- and Scudder, T. "New Economic Relationships between the Gwembe Valley and the Line of Rail," in David Parkin (ed.), <u>Town and Country in Central and Eastern</u> <u>Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, <u>1975</u>.
- Colvin, Lucie Gallistel. <u>The Uprooted of The Western Sahel. Migrants' Quest for Cash</u> in Senegambie. New York: Praeger, 1981.
- Connell, John. "Economic Changes in an Iranian Village," <u>Middle East Journal</u>, Vol. 28, no. 3 (Summer 1974): 309-314.
- -----; Dasgupta, Biplab; Laishley, Roy; and Lipton, Michael. <u>Migration from Rural</u> <u>Areas: The Evidence from Village Studies</u>. Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1976.
- Conning, Arthur M. "Rural-Urban Destinations of Migrants and Community Differentiation in a Rural Region of Chile," <u>International Migration Review</u>, Vol. 6, no. 2 (Fall 1972): 148-157.
- Conryoy, J.D. "Urbanisation in Papua New Guinea: A Development Constraint," in R.J. May (ed.), <u>Change and Movement. Readings on Internal Migration In Papua</u> <u>New Guinea</u>. Canberra: Australian National University Press, 1977.
- Craig, Daniel. "The Impact of Land Reform on an Iranian Village," <u>Middle East</u> Journal, Vol. 32, no. 2 (Spring 1978): 141-154.
- Curtain, Richard. "Labor Migration in Papua New Guinea: Primary School-Leavers in the Towns -- Present and Future Significance," in Helen I. Safa and Brian M. Du Toit (eds.), Migration and Development. The Hague (Holland): Mouton, 1975.
- Deere, Carmen Diana. "The Differentiation of the Peasantry and Family Structure: A Peruvian Case Study," <u>Journal of Family History</u>, Vol. 3 no. 4 (Winter 1978): 422-438.
- de Haan, H.H. "Rural Industrialization in India. The Contribution to Labour Absorption and to Curbing Rural-Urban Migration." Discussion Paper No. 54. Rotterdam (Holland): Centre for Development Planning, Erasmus University, 1980.
- de Jonge, Klaas. "Rural Development and Inequality in Casamance (Southern Senegal)," <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>, Vol. 69, no. 1-2 (1978): 68-77.
- de Wilde, John C. "The Manpower and Employment Aspects of Selected Experiences of Agricultural Development in Tropical Africa," <u>International Labour Review</u>, Vol. 104, no. 5 (November 1971): 367-385.

- Desmond, Gerald M. "The Impact of National and Regional Development Policies on Urbanization," in Leo Jakobson and Ved Prakash (eds.), <u>Urbanization and National</u> <u>Development</u>, Vol. 1, South and Southeast Asia Urban Affairs Annuals. Beverly Hills (California): Sage Publications, 1975.
- Dhar, Sanjay. "An Analysis of Internal Migration in India." Ph.D. dissertation, Yale University, New Haven (Connecticut), 1980.
- Dipolo, Mario and Suarez, Maria Matilde. "History, Patterns, and Migration: A Case Study in the Venezuelan Andes," <u>Human Organization</u>, Vol. 33, no. 2 (Summer 1974): 183-195.
- Doughty, Paul L. Huaylas: An Andean District in Search of Progress. Ithaca (New York): Cornell University Press, 1968.
- -----. "Engineers and Energy in the Andes," in H.R. Bernard and P.J. Pelto (eds.), Technology and Social Change. New York: Macmillan, 1972.
- D'Souza, Victor S. "Green Revolution and Urbanization in Punjab During 1961-71," in S. Manzoor Alam and V.V. Pokshishevesky (eds.), <u>Urbanization in Developing</u> <u>Countries</u>. Indo-Soviet Collaborative Volume. Hyderabad (India): Osmania University, 1976.
- Eames, Edwin and Schwab, William. "Urban Migration in India and Africa," <u>Human</u> Organization, Vol. 23, no. 1 (Spring 1964): 24-27.
- Eaton, Peter. "The In-Migration of Unskilled Labor in Large Urban Centers in the Brazil Northeast." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Florida (Gainesville), 1976.
- Ehlers, Eckart. "City and Hinterland in Iran: The Example of Tabas/Khorassan," <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>, Vol. 68, no. 5 (1977): 284-296.
- Eicher, Carl; Zalla, Thomas; Kocher, James; and Winch, Fred. "Employment Generation in African Agriculture," Institute of International Agriculture Research Report No. 9. East Lansing: Michigan State University, 1970.
- Essang, Sunday M. and Mabawonko, Adewale F. "Determinants and Impact of Rural-Urban Migration: A Case Study of Selected Communities in Western Nigeria," African Rural Employment Research Network Paper No. 10. East Lansing: Michigan State University, 1974.
- Falaris, Evangelos M. "The Determinants of Internal Migration in Peru: An Economic Analysis," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 27, no. 2 (January 1979): 327-341.
- Fallenbuchl, Zbigniew. "Internal Migration and Economic Development Under Socialism: The Case of Poland," in Allan A. Brown and Egon Neuberger (eds.), Internal Migration: A Comparative Perspective. New York: Academic Press, 1977.
- Fernea, Robert A. "Land Reform and Ecology in Postrevolutionary Iraq," <u>Economic</u> Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 17, no. 3 (April 1969): 356-381.

- Fields, Gary S. "Lifetime Migration in Colombia: Tests of the Expected Income Hypothesis," <u>Population and Development Review</u>, Vol. 5, no. 2 (June 1979): 247-265.
- -----. "Place-to-Place Migration in Colombia," <u>Economic Development and Cultural</u> Change, Vol. 30, no. 3 (April 1982): 538-558.
- Findley, Sally. <u>Planning for Internal Migration: A Review of Issues and Policies in</u> <u>Developing Countries</u>. Special Report ISP-RD-4. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of the Census, Department of Commerce, 1977.
- -----. "Rural Development Programmes: Planned Versus Actual Migration Outcomes," in <u>Population Distribution Policies in Development Planning</u>. Population Studies No. 75. New York: United Nations, Department of International Economic and Social Affairs, 1981.
- Flinn, William L. and Cartano, David G. "A Comparison of the Migration Process to an Urban Barrio and to a Rural Community: Two Case Studies," <u>Inter-American</u> <u>Economic Affairs</u>, Vol. 24, no. 2 (Autumn 1970): 37-48.
- Foster, Philip J. "The Vocational School Fallacy in Development Planning," in C.A. Anderson and M.J. Bowman (eds.), <u>Education and Economic Development</u>. Chicago: Aldine, 1965.
- Fuguitt, Glenn V. "Population Movements and Integrated Rural Development," Sociologia Ruralis, Vol. 19, no. 2-3 (1979): 99-115.
- Fuhs, Friedrich W. and Vingerhoets, Jan. <u>Rural Manpower</u>, <u>Rural Institutions and Rural</u> <u>Employment in Thailand</u>. <u>Bangkok</u>: <u>Manpower</u> Planning Division, National Economic Development Board, Government of Thailand, 1972.
- Gallin, Bernard and Gallin, Rita S. "The Integration of Village Migrants into Urban Society: The Case of Taipei, Taiwan," in Robert N. Thomas and John M. Hunter (eds.), <u>Internal Migration Systems in the Developing World with Special</u> <u>Reference to Latin America.</u> Cambridge (Massachusetts): Schenkman, 1980.
- Garrison, Helen. "Refining a Model of the Causes of Interstate Migration: A Case Study of Mexico," paper presented at Annual Meeting of the Population Association of America, San Diego, (California), 1981.
- Germani, Gino. "Urbanization, Social Change, and the Great Transformation," in G. Germani (eds.), <u>Modernation, Urbanization, and the Urban Crisis</u>. Boston: Little, Brown, 1973.
- Gillespie, Fran. "Comprehending the Slow Pace of Urbanization in Paraguay Between 1950 and 1972," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 31, no. 2 (January 1983): 355-375.
- Goddard, A.D. "Population Movements and Land Shortages in the Sokoto Close-Settled Zone, Nigeria," in Samir Amin (ed.), <u>Modern Migrations in Western Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, 1974.
- Godfrey, Martin. "Rural-Urban Migration in a 'Lewis-Model' Context," Manchester School of Economic and Social Studies, Vol. 47, no. 3 (September 1979): 230-247.

- Goldstein, Sidney. "Migration and Rural Development: Research Directions on Interrelations," FAO Economic and Social Development Paper No. 8. Rome: Food and Agricultural Organisation, 1979.
- Gollas, Manuel. "La Migracion, el ingreso y el empleo urbanos," <u>Demografia y</u> <u>Economia</u>, Vol. 14, no. 1 (1980): 1-26.
- Gordon, Peter and Theobald, Peter. "Migration and Spatial Development in the Republic of Mexico," Journal of Developing Areas, Vol. 15, no. 2 (January 1981): 239-250.
- Gosling, L.A. Peter. "The Demographic Implications of Agricultural Land Settlements: A Case Study of Malaysia's FELDA (Federal Land Development Authority) Schemes," in Robin Barlow (ed.), <u>Case Studies in the Demographic Impact of</u> <u>Asian Development Projects</u>. Ann Arbor (Michigan): Center for Research on Economic Development, University of Michigan, 1982.
- Gotsch, Carl H. "Technical Change and the Distribution of Income in Rural Areas," <u>American Journal of Agricultural Economics</u>, Vol. 54, no. 2 (May 1972): 326-341.
- -----. "Economics, Institutions and Employment Generation in Rural Areas," in Edgar
 O. Edwards (ed.), <u>Employment in Developing Nations</u>. New York: Columbia University Press, 1974.
- Gould, W.T.S. "Movements of Schoolchildren and Provision of Secondary Schools in Uganda," in David Parkin (eds.), <u>Town and Country in Central and Eastern Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, 1975.
- Greenwood, Michael. "The Determinants of Labor Migration in Egypt," Journal of <u>Regional Science</u>, Vol. 9, no. 2 (August 1969): 283-290.
- -----. "An Analysis of the Determinants of Internal Labor Mobility in India," <u>Annuals</u> of Regional Science, Vol. 5, no. 1 (June 1971): 137-151.
- -----. "An Econometric Model of Internal Migration and Regional Economic Growth in Mexico," Journal of Regional Science, Vol. 18, no. 1 (April 1978): 17-31.
- -----; Ladman, Jerry R.; and Siegel, Barry S. "Long-Term Trends in Migratory Behavior in a Developing Country: The Case of Mexico," <u>Demography</u>, Vol. 18, no. 3 (August 1981): 369-388.
- Gregson, Ronald E. "African Labour Migration and the Rural Economy," <u>Rural</u> <u>Africana</u>, No. 24 (Spring 1974): 1-18.
- Grosse, Scott D. "Rural Development and Retention of the Rural Population in the Countryside in Korea: A Macro-Level Analysis." Paper presented at 12th International Conference, Institute for International Development and Cooperation, University of Ottawa, 1981.
- Guillet, David. "Migration, Agrarian Reform, and Structural Changes in Peru," <u>Human</u> Organization, Vol. 35, no. 3 (Fall 1976): 295-302.
- Gunasekera, H.A. de S. and Codippily, H.M.A. "Employment Creation through Regional Development: Recent Experience in Sri Lanka," <u>International Labour</u> <u>Review</u>, Vol. 116, no. 1 (July/August 1977): 39-52.

- Haq, Anwar-ul and Rehman, Saif-ur. "Socio-Economic and Psychological Factors in Rural-Urban Migration: A Case Study in Migrant Selectivity," <u>Pakistan</u> <u>Economic and Social Review</u>, Vol. 13, no. 1 (Spring 1975): 12-27.
- Harris, Geoffrey T. "The Determinants of Internal Migration in Papua New Guinea: A Multiple Regression Analysis." Discussion Paper No. 12. Papua New Guinea: Economics Department, University of Papua New Guinea, 1974.
- Harris, R.N. and Steer, E.S. "Demographic-Resource Push in Rural Migration," <u>Social</u> and Economic Studies, Vol. 17, no. 4 (December 1968): 398-406.
- Hart, J.K. "Migration and the Opportunity Structure: A Ghanaian Case-Study," in Samir Amin (eds.), <u>Modern Migrations in Western Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, 1974.
- Hashim, Wan. <u>A Malay Peasant Community in Upper Perak</u>. Bangi, Selangor: Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 1978.
- Havens, A. Eugene and Flinn, William. "Green Revolution Technology and Community Development: The Limits of Action Programs," <u>Economic Development and</u> <u>Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 23, no. 3 (April 1975): 469-481.
- Hay, Michael J. "A Structural Equations Model of Migration in Tunisia," <u>Economic</u> Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 28, no. 2 (January 1980): 345-358.
- Hayami, Yujiro. "Induced Innovation, Green Revolution, and Income Distribution: Comment," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 30, no. 1 (October 1981): 169-176.
- Herring, Ronald J. Land to the Tiller. The Political Economy of Agrarian Reform in South Asia. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1983.
- Hill, Polly. <u>Rural Hausa: A Village and A Setting</u>. London: Cambridge University Press, 1972.
- -----. Population, Prosperity and Poverty. Rural Kano 1900 and 1970. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1977.
- Hirschman, Albert O. Journeys Toward Progress. Studies of Economic Policy-Making in Latin America. New York: W.W. Norton, 1973.
- Ho, Samuel P.S. "Decentralized Industrialization and Rural Development: Evidence from Taiwan," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 28, no. 1 (October 1979): 77-96.
- -----. "Economic Development and Rural Industry in South Korea and Taiwan," <u>World</u> Development, Vol. 10, no. 11 (November 1982): 973-990.
- House, William J. and Rempel, Henry. "The Determinants of Interregional Migration in Kenya," <u>World Development</u>, Vol. 8, no. 1 (January 1980): 25-35.
- Hugo, Graeme. <u>Population Mobility in West Java</u>. Yogyakarta: Gadjah Mada University Press, 1978.

- Huntington, Hillard G. "An Empirical Study of Ethnic Linkages in Kenyan Rural-Urban Migration." Discussion Paper No. 260. Nairobi (Kenya): Institute for Development Studies, University of Nairobi, 1977.
- Hutton, Caroline. "Reluctant Farmers? A Study of Unemployment and Planned Rural Development in Uganda," East African Studies, no. 33. Nairobi: East African Publishing House, 1973.
- Hyden, Goran. <u>Beyond Ujamaa in Tanzania</u>. <u>Underdevelopment and an Uncaptured</u> Peasantry. London: Heinemann, 1980.
- Imoagene, S. Oshomha. "Some Sociological Aspects of Modern Migrations in Western Africa," in Samir Amin (ed.), <u>Modern Migrations in Western Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, 1974.
- International Labour Office. <u>Mechanisation and Employment in Agriculture.</u> Case Studies from Four Continents. Geneva: International Labour Office, 1973.
- Israel. Institute for Planning and Development and Ministry of Agriculture. <u>Rural-Urban Integration</u>. An Approach for Developing Countries Based on Israeli Experience. Tel Aviv, 1969.
- Johnson, E.A.J. <u>The Organization of Space in Developing Countries</u>. Cambridge (Massachusetts): Harvard University Press, 1970.
- Jones, Richard C. "Behavioral Causes and Consequences of Rural-Urban Migration: Special Reference to Venezuela," in Robert N. Thomas and John M. Hunter (eds.), Internal Migration Systems in the Developing World with Special Reference to Latin America. Cambridge (Massachusetts): Schenkman, 1980.
- Jones, Ronald. "Factors Promoting Urbanization," in R. Jones (ed.), Essays on World Urbanization. London: George Philip and Son, 1975.
- Joshi, Heather. "Migration and Urban Employment Problems: A Study of the Ivory Coast." Unpublished paper, Institute of Economics and Statistics, Oxford University, 1973.
- Kabera, John B. "Rural Population Redistribution in Uganda Since 1900," in John I. Clarke and Leszek A. Kosinski (eds.), <u>Redistribution of Population in Africa</u>. London: Heinemann, 1982.
- Kano, Hiroyoshi. "Employment Structure and Labor Migration in Rural Central Java: A Preliminary Observation," <u>Developing Economies</u>, Vol. 19, no. 4 (December 1981): 348-366.
- Katzman, Martin T. "Colonization as an Approach to Regional Development: Northern Parana, Brazil," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 26, no. 4 (July 1978): 709-724.
- Kay, Cristobal. "Achievements and Contradictions of the Peruvian Agrarian Reform," Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 18, no. 2 (January 1982): 141-170.
- Kelley, Allen C. and Williamson, Jeffrey G. "The Sources of Third World Urbanization and City Growth." Paper presented the Population Association of America Meeting, Washington, D.C., 1981.

- Kemper, Robert V. Migration and Adaptation: Tzintzuntzan Peasants in Mexico City. Beverly Hills (California): Sage, 1977.
- Khuri, Fuad I. "A Comparative Study of Migration Patterns in Two Lebanese Villages," Human Organization, Vol. 26, no. 4 (Winter 1967): 206-213.
- King, Jonathan. "Interstate Migration in Mexico," <u>Economic Development and Cultural</u> Change, Vol. 27, no. 1 (October 1978): 83-101.
- Knight, J.B. "Rural-Urban Income Comparison and Migration in Ghana," <u>Bulletin of</u> <u>the Oxford University Institute of Economics and Statistics</u>, Vol. 34, no. 2 (May 1972): 199-228.
- Knowles, James C. and Anker, Richard. "The Determinants of Internal Migration in Kenya: A District Level Analysis," Working Paper No. 56. Geneva: Population and Employment Project, International Labour Office, 1977.
- Kuchiba, Masuo; Tsubouchi, Yoshihiro; and Maeda, Narifumi. <u>Three Malay Villages: A</u> <u>Sociology of Paddy Growers in West Malaysia</u>. Translated by Peter and Stephanie Hawkes. Monograph of the Center for Southeast Asian Studies of Kyoto University. Honolulu: University Press of Hawaii, 1979.
- Kydd, Jonathan and Christiansen, Robert. "Structural Change in Malawi Since Independence: Consequences of a Development Strategy Based on Large-Scale Agriculture." World Development, Vol. 10, no. 5 (May 1982): 355-376.
- Laquian, Aprodicio A. "People on the Move," Populi, Vol. 7, no. 3 (1980): 34-49.
- Lauwagie, Beverly N. "The Effects of Rural Modernization on Migration Patterns: The Case of Mexico." Ph.D. dissertation, Stanford University, Stanford (California), 1980.
- Levi, J.F.S. "Migration from the Land and Urban Unemployment in Sierra Leone," Bulletin of the Oxford University Institute of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 35, no. 4 (November 1973): 309-326.
- Levy, Mildred B. and Wadycki, Walter J. "A Comparison of Young and Middle-Aged Migration in Venezuela," <u>Annals of Regional Science</u>, Vol. 6, no. 2 (December 1972): 73-85.
- Lieberman, Samuel S. "A Community Approach to Aggregate Demographic Patterns in Rural Turkey," in George Dalton (eds.), <u>Research in Economic Anthropology</u>, Vol.
 3. Greenwood (Connecticut): JAI Press, 1980.
- Lingard, John and Bagyo, Al Sri. "The Impact of Agricultural Mechanization on Production and Employment in Rice Areas of West Java," <u>Bulletin of Indonesian</u> Economic Studies, Vol. 19, no. 1 (April 1983): 53-67.
- Lipton, Michael. "Towards a Theory of Land Reform," in David Lehmann (eds.), Agrarian Reform and Agrarian Reformism. London: Faber and Faber, 1974.
- -----. "Migration from Rural Areas of Poor Countries: The Impact of Rural Productivity and Income Distribution," <u>World Development</u>, Vol. 8, no. 1 (January 1980): 1-24.

- -----. "Rural Development and the Retention of the Rural Population in the Countryside of Developing Countries," <u>Canadian Journal of Development Studies</u>, Vol. 3, no. 1 (1982): 11-37.
- Lithwick, N.H. "Internal Migration: The Role of Spatial Variables." Carleton Economic Papers 79-09. Ottawa: Carleton University, 1979.
- Lowry, Ira S. <u>Migration and Metropolitan Growth: Two Analytical Models</u>. San Francisco: Chandler, 1966.
- Mabogunje, Akin. "Effectiveness of Population Redistribution Policies: The African Experience," in <u>International Population Conference</u>, <u>Manila 1981</u>. <u>Solicited</u> <u>Papers</u>. Liege (Belgium): International Union for the Scientific Study of Population, 1981.
- Maruyama, Yoshihiro. "A Behavioral Revolution of Agriculture." Unpublished paper, Kyoto University, 1967.
- Masser, I. and Gould, W.T.S. Inter-Regional Migration in Tropical Africa. Special Publication No. 8. London: Institute of British Geographers, 1975.
- Maude, A. "Inter-village Differences in Out-migration in West Sumatra," Journal of Tropical Geography, Vol. 49, no. 1 (1979): 41-54.
- -----. "Population Mobility and Rural Households in North Kelantan, Malaysia," in G.W. Jones and H.V. Richter (eds.), <u>Population Mobility and Development:</u> <u>Southeast Asia and the Pacific</u>. Canberra: Australian National University, 1981.
- Mazur, Robert E. "Migration and Rural Socio-Economic Structure in Sub-Saharan Africa: The Case of Mali." Ph.D. dissertation, Brown University, Providence (Rhode Island), 1982.
- McGee, Terence G. "Rural-Urban Mobility in South and Southeast Asia: Different Formulations, Different Answers," in William H. McNeill (eds), <u>Human Migration</u>. Bloomington: University of Indiana Press, 1978.
- McKee, Neill and Hibler, Michelle. "Rural Squatters Caught in the Labour Trap," IDRC Reports, Vol. 10, no. 3 (October 1981): 14-15.
- Mehta, Dinesh. "Behavioral Aspects of Rural-Urban Migration: An Empirical Analaysis of the Ahmedabad Region, India." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, 1982.
- Mertaugh, Michael T. "The Causes and Effects of Rural-Urban Migration in Morocco, 1960-1970." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, 1976.
- Minami, Ryoshin. "Population Migration Away from Agriculture in Japan," <u>Economic</u> Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 15, no. 2, pt. 1 (January 1967): 183-201.
- Misawa, Takeo. "Agricultural Development and Employment Expansion: A Case Study of Japan," in Nurul Islam (ed.), <u>Agricultural Policy in Low Income Nations</u>. London: Macmillan, 1974.

- Mishra, S.K. "Factors and Process of Migration in a Developing Economy: A Case Study of M.P.," in R.B. Mandal (ed.), <u>Frontiers in Migration Analysis</u>. New Delhi: Concept Publishing, 1981.
- Mitchell, J.C. "Factors in Rural Male Absenteeism in Rhodesia," in David Parkin (ed.), <u>Town and Country in Central and Eastern Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, 1975.
- Mohtadi, Abdolhamid. "Internal Migration and Urban Inequality: An Econometric Analysis of the Iranian Development Experience." Ph.D. dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, 1982.
- Mojtahed, Davoud. "Rural-Urban Migration In Iran." Ph.D. dissertation, United States International University, 1980.
- Mueller, Eva and Anderson, Julie. "The Economic and Demographic Impact of the Comilla Project in Bangladesh: A Case Study," in Robin Barlow (ed.), <u>Case</u> <u>Studies in the Demographic Impact of Asian Development Projects</u>. Ann Arbor (Michigan): Center for Research on Economic Development, University of Michigan, 1982.
- Mundlak, Yair. "Occupational Migration Out of Agriculture -- A Cross-Country Analysis," <u>Review of Economics and Statistics</u>, Vol. 60, no. 3 (August 1978): 392-398.
- ----- and Strauss, John. "Occupational Migration Out of Agriculture in Japan," Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 5, no. 1 (March 1978): 55-71.
- Munro, John M. "Migration in Turkey," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 22, no. 4 (July 1974): 634-653.
- Nelson, Joan M. "Sojourners Versus New Urbanites: Causes and Consequences of Temporary Versus Permanent Cityward Migration in Developing Countries," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 24, no. 4 (July 1976): 721-757.
- Oberai, A.S. "State Policies and Internal Migration in Asia," <u>International Labour</u> Review, Vol. 120, no. 2 (March/April 1981): 231-244.
- ----- and Singh, H.K.M. "Migration Flows in Punjab's Green Revolution Belt," Economic and Political Weekly, Vol. 15, no. 13 (March 29, 1980): A2-A12.
- Ohashi, Kenichi. "An Analysis of Migration Decisions in Less Developed Countries in the Framework of an Extended Family System and a Dynamic Model of Rural-Urban Migration." Ph.D. dissertation, Cornell University, Ithaca (New York), 1980.
- O'Neill, J.A. "The Effect of Income and Education on Interregional Migration." Ph.D. dissertation, Columbia University, New York, 1970.
- Owens, Edgar and Shaw, Robert. <u>Development Reconsidered</u>: <u>Bridging the Gap</u> Between Government and People. Lexington (Massachusetts): Lexington, 1972.
- Park, Hong Youl and Fullerton, Herbert H. "Rural-Urban Labor Migration: The Case of Korea," Annals of Regional Science, Vol. 14, no. 1 (March 1980): 72-90.

- Peacock, Frank. "Rural Poverty and Development in West Malaysia," <u>Journal of</u> Developing Areas, Vol. 15, no. 4 (July 1981): 639-654.
- Peek, Peter. "Agrarian Change and Labour Migration in the Sierra of Ecuador," International Labour Review, Vol. 119, no. 5 (September/October 1980): 609-621.
- ----- and Standing, Guy. "Rural-Urban Migration and Government Policies in Low-Income Countries," International Labour Review, Vol. 118, no. 6 (December 1979): 747-762.
- Pernia, Ernesto del Mar. Urbanization, Population Growth, and Economic Development in the Philippines. Westport (Connecticut): Greenwood Press, 1977.
- -----. "Asian Urbanization and Development: A Comparative Perspective," Discussion Paper 81-04. Manila: School of Economics, University of the Philippines, 1981.
- Preston, David A. and Preston, Rosemary A. "Migration, Education, and Rural Development. Evidence from Ecuador." Paper presented at Annual Meeting of the Population Association of America, Pittsburgh (Pennsylvania), 1983.
- Preston, Samuel. "Urban Growth in Developing Countries: A Demographic Reappraisal," <u>Population and Development Review</u>, Vol. 5, no. 2 (June 1979): 195-216.
- Pryor, Robin J. "Conclusion: Internal Migration in South-East Asia -- Patterns, Problems, and Policies," in Robin J. Pryor (ed.), <u>Migration and Development in</u> <u>South-East Asia. A Demographic Perspective</u>. Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia): Oxford University Press, 1979.
- Rahman, Atiqur. "Variations in Terms of Exchange and Their Impact on Farm Households in Bangladesh," Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 17, no. 4 (July 1981): 317-335.
- Read, Margaret. "Migrant Labour in Africa and its Effects on Tribal Life," International Labour Review, Vol. 45, no. 6 (June 1942): 605-624.
- Reder, Melvin. "The Economic Consequences of Increased Immigration," <u>Review of</u> Economics and Statistics, Vol. 45, no. 3 (August 1963): 221-230.
- Rehnberg, Rex. "Agricultural Price Policy and Rural-to-Urban Migration: The Recent South Korean Experience," Journal of Developing Areas, Vol. 11, no. 4 (July 1977): 509-518.
- Rempel, Henry. "Rural-Urban Labor Migration and Urban Unemployment in Kenya," Research Report 81-24. Laxenburg (Austria): International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, 1981.
- Renaud, Bertrand. "Economic Fluctuations and Speed of Urbanization: A Case Study of Korea, 1955-1975." World Bank Staff Working Paper No. 270. Washington, D.C.: IBRD, World Bank, 1977.
- Richards, Peter and Gooneratne, Wilbert. <u>Basic Needs</u>, Poverty and Government Policies in Sri Lanka. Geneva: International Labour Office, 1980.

- Rhoda, Richard E. "Development Activities and Rural-Urban Migration: Is It Possible to Keep Them Down on the Farm?" Washington, D.C.: U.S. Agency for International Development, 1979.
- Roberts, Bryan R. <u>Cities of Peasants: The Political Economy of Urbanization in the</u> Third World. London: Edward Arnold, 1978.
- ----- and Samaniego, Carlos. "The Evolution of Pastoral Villages and the Significance of Agrarian Reform in the Highlands of Central Peru," in Norman Long and Bryan R. Roberts (eds.), <u>Peasant Cooperation and Capitalist Expansion in Central Peru</u>. Austin: Institute of Latin American Studies, University of Texas, 1978.
- Roberts, John E.; Clapp-Wincek, Cynthia; Vandervoort, Charles; and Brokensha, David. Kenya: Rural Roads, Project Impact Evaluation No. 26. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Agency for International Development, 1982.
- Roberts, Kenneth D. "Agrarian Structure and Labor Mobility in Rural Mexico," Population and Development Review, Vol. 8, no. 2 (June 1982): 299-322.
- Romero, Linda K. and Flinn, William L. "The Effects of Structural and Change Variables on the Selectivity of Migration: The Case of a Colombian Peasant Community," <u>Inter-American Economic Affairs</u>, Vol. 29, no. 4 (Spring 1976): 35-58.
- Ruddle, Kenneth and Rondinelli, Dennis. "Urban Functions in Rural Development: Integrating Spatial Systems for Equitable Growth," <u>Journal of Economic</u> Development, Vol. 4, no. 1 (1979): 91-116.
- Sahota, Gian S. "An Economic Analysis of Internal Migration in Brazil," <u>Journal of</u> Political Economy, Vol. 76, no. 2 (March/April 1968): 218-245.
- Saint, William S. and Goldsmith, William W. "Cropping Systems, Structural Change and Rural-Urban Migration in Brazil," <u>World Development</u>, Vol. 8, no. 3 (March 1980): 259-272.
- Schneider-Sliwa, Rita. "Rural Nonfarm Employment and Migration: The Case of Costa Rica." Ph.D. dissertation, Ohio State University, Columbus (Ohio), 1982.
- Schultz, T. Paul. "Rural-Urban Migration in Colombia," <u>Review of Economics and</u> Statistics, Vol. 53, no. 2 (May 1971): 157-163.
- -----. "Lifetime Migration within Educational Strata in Venezuela: Estimates of a Logistic Model," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 30, no. 3 (April 1982): 559-593.
- Schumacher, August. "Agricultural Development and Rural Employment: A Mexican Dilemma," in Peter G. Brown and Henry Shue (eds.), <u>The Border That Joins:</u> <u>Mexican Migrants and U.S. Responsibility</u>. Totowa (New Jersey): Rowman and Littlefield, 1983.
- Scott, Ian. Urban and Spatial Development in Mexico. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press for the World Bank, 1982.
- Sen, Lalit K. "Rural Electrification in Indonesia: Current and Future Perspectives." Development Discussion Paper No. 131. Cambridge (Massachusetts): Harvard Institute for International Development, Harvard University, 1982.

- Shaw, R. Paul. "Land Tenure and the Rural Exodus in Latin America," <u>Economic</u> <u>Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 23, no. 1 (October 1974): 123-132.
- -----. Land Tenure and the Rural Exodus in Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, and Peru. Gainesville: University Presses of Florida, 1976.
- -----. "On Modifying Metropolitan Migration," Economic Development and Cultural Change, Vol. 26, no. 4 (July 1978): 677-692.
- Silvers, Arthur and Crosson, Pierre. "Rural Development and Urban-bound Migration in Mexico." Research Paper, R-17. Washington, D.C.: Resources for the Future, 1980.
- -----. "Urban Bound Migration and Rural Investment: The Case of Mexico," Journal of Regional Science, Vol. 23, no. 1 (February 1983): 33-47.
- Simmons, Alan B. "Slowing Metropolitan City Growth in Asia: Policies, Programs, and Results." <u>Population and Development Review</u>, Vol. 5, no. 1 (March 1979): 87-104.
- -----. "A Review and Evaluation of Attempts to Constrain Migration to Selected Urban Centres and Regions," in <u>Population Distribution Policies in Development</u> <u>Planning</u>. Population Studies No. 75. New York: Department of International Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations, 1981.
- ----- and Cardona, Ramiro G. "Rural-Urban Migration: Who Comes, Who Stays, Who Returns? The Case of Bogota, Colombia, 1929-1968," <u>International Migration</u> Review, Vol. 6, no. 2 (Summer 1972): 166-181.
- -----; Diaz-Briquets, Sergio; and Laquian, Aprodicio A. <u>Social Change and</u> International Migration: A Review of Research Findings from Africa, Asia, and <u>Latin America</u>. Ottawa (Canada): International Development Research Centre, 1977.
- Singh, S.N.; Yadava, R.C.; Sharma, L.; and Sharma, H.L. "Out-migration from Varanasi (Rural): Some Results on Differentials," <u>Demography: India</u>, Vol. 9, no. 1-2 (January/December): 28-34.
- Sombutsiri, Virawan. "Hinterland Provinces in Relation to Migration to Bangkok." Ph.D. dissertation, Oklahoma State University, 1980.
- Sommer, John G.; Aquino, Rosemary; Fernandez II, Carlos A.; Golay, Frank H.; and Simmons, Emmy. <u>Philippines: BICOL Integrated Area Development</u>, Project Impact Evaluation No. 28. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Agency for International Development, 1982.

Sovani, N.V. Urbanization and Urban India. Bombay: Asia, 1966.

- Speare, Alden, Jr. "Urbanization and Migration in Taiwan," <u>Economic Development</u> and Cultural Change, Vol. 22, no. 2 (January 1974): 302-319.
- Standing, Guy. "Migration and Modes of Exploitation: Social Origins of Immobility and Mobility," Journal of Peasant Studies, Vol. 8, no. 2 (January 1981): 173-211.

----- and Sukedo, Fred. "Labour Migration and Development in Guyana," <u>International</u> Labour Review, Vol. 116, no.3 (November/December 1977): 303-313.

- Sternstein, Larry. "Thailand: Migration and Regional Development: The Khon Kaen Development Centre," in Robin J. Pryor (eds), <u>Migration and Development in</u> <u>South-east Asia. A Demographic Perspective</u>. Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia): Oxford University Press, 1979.
- Stier, Frances. "Modeling Migration: Analyzing Migration Histories from a San Blas Cuna Community," Human Organization, Vol. 42, no. 1 (Spring 1983): 9-22.
- Stoltman, Joseph P. and Ball, John M. "Migration and the Local Economic Factor in Rural Mexico," <u>Human Organization</u>, Vol. 30, no. 1 (Spring 1971): 47-61.
- Stout, B.A. and Downing, C.M. "Agricultural Mechanisation Policy," <u>International</u> <u>Labour Review</u>, Vol. 113, no. 2 (March/April 1976): 171-188.
- Thavornjit, Rachaniwan. "Thailand: Regional Migration and Development, A Regression Analysis," Discussion Paper No. 57. Bangkok: Faculty of Economics, Thammasat University, 1977.
- Todaro, Michael P. "A Model of Labor Migration and Urban Underemployment in Less Developed Countries," <u>American Economic Review</u>, Vol. 59, no. 2 (March 1969): 138-148.
- -----. "Urban Job Expansion, Induced Migration, and Rising Unemployment: A Formulation and Simplified Empirical Test for LDC's," <u>Journal of Development</u> <u>Economics</u>, Vol. 3 (September 1976): 211-225.
- -----. Internal Migration in Developing Countries: A Review of Theory, Evidence, Methodology and Research Priorities. Geneva: International Labour Office, 1976(b).
- -----. "Internal Migration in Developing Countries: A Survey," in Richard A. Easterlin (ed.), <u>Population and Economic Change in Developing Countries</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1980.
- ----- and Stilkind, Jeremy. <u>City Bias and Rural Neglect: The Dilemma of Urban</u> <u>Development</u>. Public Issues Paper No. PI-04. New York: Population Council, 1981.
- Tuma, Elias. "Agrarian Reform and Urbanization in the Middle East," <u>Middle East</u> Journal, Vol. 24, no. 2 (Spring 1970): 163-177.
- Uchendu, Victor C. "Inter-Rural Migration and East African Rural Development," in David Parkin (ed.), <u>Town and Country in Central and Eastern Africa</u>. London: Oxford University Press for the International African Institute, 1975.
- Udall, Alan T. "Transport Improvements and Rural Out-migration in Colombia," <u>Economic Development and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 29, no. 3 (April 1981): 613-629.
- Unikel, L.; Chiapetto, C.R.; and Lazcano, O. "Factores de rechazo en la migracion rural en Mexico, 1950-1960," <u>Demografia y Economia</u>, Vol. 7 (1973): 24-57.

- United Nations. Urbanization: Development Policies and Planning. International Social Development Review, No. 1. New York: Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 1968.
- -----. <u>Patterns of Urban and Rural Population Growth</u>. Population Studies, No. 68. New York: Department of International Economic and Social Affairs, 1980.
- Voll, Sarah P. "Egyptian Land Reclamation Since the Revolution," <u>Middle East</u> Journal, Vol. 34, no. 2 (Spring 1980): 127-148.
- Wagner, F.E. and Ward, John O. "Urbanization and Migration in Brazil," <u>American</u> Journal of Economics and Sociology, Vol. 39, no. 3 (July 1980): 249-259.
- Ward, R.G. "Internal Migration and Urbanization in Papua New Guinea," in R.J. May (ed.) <u>Change and Movement: Readings on Internal Migration in Papua New</u> Guinea. Canberra: Australian National University Press, 1977.
- Warriner, Doreen. Land Reform in Principle and Practice. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1969.
- Wasow, Bernard. "The Working Age Sex Ratio and Job Search Migration in Kenya," Journal of Developing Areas, Vol. 15, no. 3 (April 1981): 434-444.
- Wilcock, David and Chuta, Enyinna. "Employment in Rural Industries in Eastern Upper Volta," <u>International Labour Review</u>, Vol. 121, no. 4 (July/August 1982): 455-468.
- Wilkie, Richard W. "Toward a Behavioral Model of Peasant Migration: An Argentine Case of Spatial Behavior by Social Class Level," in R.N. Thomas (ed.), <u>Population</u> <u>Dynamics of Latin America: A Review and Bibliography</u>. Conference of Latin American Geographers, 1971.
- Wimberly, Dale W.; Flinn, William L.; and Berry, E. Helen. "The Interaction Between Community and Selectivity of Migration in Colombia: A Panel Study of Three Rural Communities." Paper presented at Annual Meeting of the Southern Sociological Society, Atlanta, Georgia, 1983.
- Wood, Adrian P. "Spontaneous Agricultural Resettlement in Ethiopia, 1950-74," in John I. Clarke and Leszek A. Kosinski (eds.), <u>Redistribution of Population in</u> Africa. London: Heinemann, 1982.
- Wood, Richard H., Jr. "Tractor Mechanisation and Employment on Larger Private Mexican Farms," <u>International Labour Review</u>, Vol. 122, no. 2 (March/April 1983): 211-226.

World Bank. "Urbanization," Sector Working Paper. Washington, D.C.: 1972.

Wu, Rong-I. "Urbanization and Industrialization in Taiwan: A Study of the Specific Pattern of Labor Utilization," in Conference on Population and Economic Development in Taiwan December 29, 1975-January 7, 1976. Taipei: Institute of Economics, Academia Sinica, 1976.

.

Wyon, John B. and Gordon, John E. <u>The Khanna Study: Population Problems in the</u> Rural Punjab. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1971.

- Yap, Lorene Y.L. "The Attraction of Cities -- A Review of the Migration Literature," Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 4, no. 3 (September 1977): 239-264.
- Yoo, Chul-In. "Becoming a Farmer in Korea: Rural Youth's Background, Value, and Expectation to Farm," Journal of Rural Development, Vol. 5, no. 1 (June 1982): 147-156.

PUBLICATIONS

CRED publications can be obtained by writing to the Publications Coordinator. An order form is provided on the last page of this brochure. Payment should accompany your order, unless otherwise indicated.

NEWSLETTER

CRED publishes a periodic newsletter entitled "CREDITS" which is available free of charge. Write to the Publications Coordinator if you wish to be placed on this mailing list.

PROJECT REPORTS

1. Berg, Elliot J. <u>The Economic Evolution of the Sahel</u>. 1975. 258 p. \$7.50

2. Berg, Elliot J., et al. <u>Marketing, Price Policy and</u> <u>Storage of Food Grains in the Sahel: A Survey - Volume I.</u> <u>Synthesis with Statistical Compilation and Annotated</u> <u>Bibliography</u>. 1977. 152 p. \$8.00.

3. Berg, Elliot J., et al. <u>Marketing, Price Policy and</u> <u>Storage of Food Grains in the Sahel: A Survey - Volume II,</u> <u>Country Studies</u>. 1977. 105 p. \$10.00.

4. Berg, Elliot J., et al. <u>Commercialisation, Politique</u> des Prix et Stockage des Céréales au Sahel: Etude Diagnostique - Tome I, Synthèse avec Compilation Statistique et Bibliographie Annotée. 1977. 164 p. <u>Tome II, Etudes des Pays</u>. 1977. 129 p. [Tome II - Out of Print.]

5. Shapiro, Kenneth H. <u>Livestock Production and</u> <u>Marketing in the Entente States of West Africa: Summary</u> <u>Report.</u> 1979. 528 p. \$12.50.

6. Delgado, Christopher L. <u>Livestock versus Foodgrain</u> <u>Production in Southeastern Upper Volta: A Resource Allocation</u> <u>Analysis</u> (Monograph I - Livestock Production and Marketing in the Entente States of West Africa Project). 1979. 427 p. [Out of Print.]

7. Staatz, John M. <u>The Economics of Cattle and Meat</u> <u>Marketing in Ivory Coast</u> (Monograph II - Livestock Production and Marketing in the Entente States of West Africa Project). 1979. 589 p. \$15.00.

8. Eddy, Edward D. <u>Labor and Land Use on Mixed</u> Farms in the Pastoral Zones of Niger (Monograph III - Livestock Production and Marketing in the Entente States of West Africa Project). 1979. 493 p. [Out of Print.]

9. Herman, Larry A. <u>The Livestock and Meat</u> <u>Marketing System in Upper Volta: An Evaluation of Economic</u> <u>Efficiency</u> (Monograph IV - Livestock Production and Marketing in the Entente States of West Africa Project). 1983. 266 p. \$10.00.

10. Shapiro, Kenneth H. <u>La Production et la</u> <u>Commercialisation du Bétail dans les Pays du Conseil de</u> <u>l'Entente: Rapport de Synthèse. 1980. 445 p. \$15.00.</u> 11. Deigado, Christopher K. <u>L'Elevage par Rapport à</u> <u>l'Agriculture au Sud-Est de la Haute-Volta: Analyse de</u> <u>l'Allocation des Ressources au Niveau de l'Exploitation (Monographie I - La Production et la Commercialisation du Bétail dans les Pays du Conseil de l'Entente). 1980. 405 p. [Out of Print.]</u>

12. Staatz, John M. <u>L'Economique de la Commercialisation du Bétail et la Viande en Côte d'Ivoire (Monographie II - La Production et la Commercialisation du Bétail dans les Pays du Conseil de l'Entente). 1980. 536 p. \$15.00.</u>

13. Eddy, Edward D. <u>L'Utilisation de la Terre et de la</u> <u>Main-d'Oeuvre à l'Interieur des Exploitations Agricoles Intégrées de la Zone Pastorale Nigérienne</u> (Monographie III - La Production et la Commercialisation du Bétail dans les Pays du Conseil de l'Entente). 1980. 406 p. [Out of Print.]

 Ariza-Niño, Edgar J.; Herman, Larry A.; Makinen, Marty; and Steedman, Charles. <u>Synthesis: Upper Volta</u> (Volume I - Livestock and Meat Marketing in West Africa Project).
 1980. 204 p. \$15.00.

15. Josserand, Henri P., and Sullivan, Gregory. <u>Benin</u>, <u>Ghana, Liberia, Togo</u> (Volume II - Livestock and Meat Marketing in West Africa Project). 1980. 446 p. \$15.00.

16. Delgado, Christopher L., and Staatz, John M. <u>Ivory</u> <u>Coast and Mali</u> (Volume III - Livestock and Meat Marketing in West Africa Project). 1980. 439 p. \$15.00.

17. Ariza-Niño, Edgar J., and Griffith, J.L.P. <u>Suppliers:</u> <u>Argentina, Australia and New Zealand</u> (Volume IV - Livestock and Meat Marketing in West Africa Project). 1979. 239 p. [Out of Print.]

13. Ariza-Niño, Edgar J.; Manly, D.W.; and Shapiro, Kenneth H. <u>The World Meat Economy: Other Supplier and</u> <u>Consumer Countries</u> (Volume V - Livestock and Meat Marketing in West Africa Project). 1980. 183 p. [Out of Print.]

19. Ariza-Niño, Edgar J.; Herman, Larry A.; Makinen, Marty; et Steedman, Charles. <u>Rapport de Synthèse; Haute-</u> <u>Volta</u> (Tome I - La Commercialisation du Bétail et de la Viande en Áfrique de l'Ouest). 1981. 258 p. \$15.00.

20. Josserand, Henri P., et Sullivan, Gregory. <u>Bénin</u>, <u>Ghana, Libéria, Togo</u> (Tome II - La Commercialisation du Bétail et de la Viande en Afrique de l'Ouest). 1980. 441 p. \$15.00.

21. Delgado, Christopher L., et Staatz, John M. <u>Côte</u> <u>d'Ivoire et Mali</u> (Tome III - La Commercialisation du Bétail et de la Viande en Afrique de l'Ouest). 1981. 567 p. \$15.00.

22. Ariza-Niño, Edgar J. et Griffith, J.L.P. Les Fournisseurs - Argentine, Australie, Nouvelle-Zélande; et Ariza-Niño, Edgar J.; Manly, D.W. et Shapiro, Kenneth H. L'Economie Mondiale de la Viande: Autres Pays - Fournisseurs et Consommateurs (Tome IV/V - La Commercialisation du Bétail et de la Viande en Afrique de l'Ouest). 1981. 476 p. \$15.00.

23. Makinen, Marty and Ariza-Niño, Edgar J. <u>The</u> <u>Market for Livestock from the Central Niger Zone</u> (Niger Range and Livestock Project). 1982. 55 p. \$7.50.

3

24. Makinen, Marty et Ariza-Niño, Edgar J. <u>Le Marché</u> <u>du Bétail dans la Zone Nigérienne Centrale</u> (Le Projet de Gestion des Pasturages et de l'Elevage). 1982. 63 p. \$7.50.

25. Barlow, Robin (editor). <u>Case Studies in the Demographic Impact of Asian Development Projects.</u> (Contributors: J. Anderson, H. Barnum, J. Bauer, P. Gosling, A. Jain, H. Mohtadi, and E. Mueller). 1982. 204 p. \$10.00.

26. Ariza-Niño, Edgar J. et al. <u>Consumption Effects of</u> <u>Agricultural Policies: Cameroon and Senegal - Part I: Country</u> <u>Reports; Part II: Methodology. 1982. 465 p. \$15.00.</u>

27. Ariza-Niño, Edgar J. et al. <u>Effets nutritifs de</u> politiques agricoles: Cameroun et Sénégal - Partie I: Rapport <u>de Pays</u>. 1982. 369 p. \$8.00. <u>Partie II: Méthodologies</u> <u>d'Analyse et Modalites d'Enquête</u>. 1982. 284 p. \$7.00.

These prices include postage and handling charges. Please refer to the Project Report Number (PR #) when placing an order.

DISCUSSION PAPERS

CRED normally publishes 5-8 discussion papers annually, which provide preliminary reports on the research (institutional or personal) of its senior staff. In many cases, revised versions of these papers are later published in academic journals or elsewhere. Individual discussion papers can be purchased for 33.00 each; an annual subscription (based on a July 1 - June 30 subscription year) is available for \$15.00. Subscriptions are also available on an exchange basis for publications from other institutions.

1. Berg, Elliot J. "Wage Structure in Less-Developed Countries," January 1968. 51 p. (Republished in <u>Wage Policy</u> <u>Issues in Economic Development</u>, edited by Anthony D. Smith, International Institute for Labour Studies, Geneva, 1969.)

2. Eckstein, Peter C. "Accounting Prices as a Tool of Development Planning," February 1968. 84 p.

3. Stolper, Wolfgang F. "Economic Growth and Political Instability in Nigeria: On Growing Together Again," November 1968. 38 p. (Republished in <u>Growth and Development of the Nigerian Economy</u>, edited by Carl K. Eicher and Carl E. Liedholm, Michigan State University Press, East Lansing, 1970.)

4. Berg, Elliot J. "Industrial Relations Systems in Colonial West Africa: A Comparative Analysis of French West Africa and the Gold Coast," December 1968. 50 p. (Republished in African Dimensions: Essays in Honor of William O. Brown, edited by Mark Karp, Boston University, Boston, 1975.)

5. Berg, Elliot J. "Trade Unions and Wage Levels - The Nigerian Case," January 1969. 19 p. (Republished in <u>Economic</u> <u>Development and Cultural Change</u>, Volume 17, No. 4, July 1969.)

6. Porter, Richard C. "Some Implications of Post-War Primary Product Trends," February 1969. 17 p. (Republished in Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 78, No. 3, May - June 1970.) 7. Eckstein, Peter C. "Quantitative Measurements of Development Performance: A Critique by Peter Eckstein and a Reply by Irma Adelman and Cynthia Taft Morris," April 1969. 37 p. (Republished in <u>American Economic Review</u>, Vol. 60, No. 1, March 1970.)

8. Porter, Richard C. "The Effectiveness of Tax Exemption in Colombia," July 1969. 41 p. (Republished in Weitschaftliches Archiv/Review of World Economics, Vol. 108, No. 3, September 1972.)

9. Eckstein, Peter C. "Toward an Integrated Theory of Tariffs," August 1969. 41 p.

10. Stolper, Wolfgang F. "Limitations of Comprehensive Planning in the Face of Comprehensive Uncertainty: Crisis of Planning or Crisis of Planners," October 1969. 44 p. (Republished in Weitschaftliches Archiv, Vol. 107, No. 1, March 1971.)

11. Porter, Richard C. "Birth of a Bill Market," August 1970. 20 p. (Republished in Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 9, No. 3, April 1973.)

12. Adalemo, Isaac Aylinde. "Distribution of Market Centers, Market Periodicities and Marketing in Northwestern Nigeria," August 1970. 57 p. (Republished in <u>African</u> <u>Urban Notes</u>, Vol. 5, No. 2, Winter 1970.)

13. Berg, Elliot J. "Wages and Employment in Less-Developed Countries," December 1970. 23 p. (Republished in The Challenge of Unemployment to Development and the Role of Training and Research Institutes of Development, O.E.C.D., Paris, 1971.)

14. Hutcheson, Thomas L. and Porter, Richard C. "The Cost of Tying Aid: A Method and Some Colombian Estimates," January 1971. 58 p. (Republished in Princeton Studies in International Finance, No. 30, March 1972.)

* 15. Andriamananjara, Rajaona. "Labor Mobilization: The Moroccan Experience," April 1974. 119 p.

16. Aho, C. Michael. "The Use of Export Projects in Allocating Foreign Aid Among and Domestic Resources Within Developing Countries," July 1971. 59 p. (Republished in Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 10, No. 3/4, April/July 1974.)

17. Kennedy, Michael. "An Empirical Evaluation of the Two-Gap Model of Development," November 1971. 29 p.

18. Naranjo, John and Porter, Richard C. "The Impact of the Commonwealth Preference System on the Exports of Latin America to the United Kingdom," March 1972. 37 p. (Republished in Journal of Development Studies, Vol. 9, No. 4, July 1973.)

19. Fields, Gary S. "Private Returns to Investments in Higher Levels of Education in Kenya," April 1972. 16 p. (Republished in Education, Society and Development: New Perspectives from Kenya, edited by David Court and Dharam P. Ghai. Oxford University Press, Nairobi, 1974.) 20. Osayimese, Izevbuwa G. "An Application of Control Theory to Rural-Urban Migration and Urban Unemployment," May 1972. 19 p. (Republished in <u>Geographical Analysis</u>, Vol. 4, No. 2, April 1974.)

21. Johnson, George E. "The Determinants of Hourly Earnings in Urban Kenya," May 1972. 36 p.

22. Staelin, Charles P. "The Cost and Composition of Indian Exports," May 1972. 41 p. (Republished in <u>Journal of</u> <u>Development Economics</u>, Vol. 1, No. 2, June 1974.)

23. Heller, Peter S. "A Model of Public Sector Expenditure Dynamics in Less-Developed Countries: The Kenyan Case," May 1972. 50 p. (Republished in <u>Quarterly</u> <u>Journal of Economics</u>, Vol. 38, No. 2, May 1974.)

24. Heller, Peter S. "The Strategy of Health-Sector Planning in the People's Republic of China," July 1972. 62 p. (Republished in <u>Medicine and Public Health in China</u>, edited by M. Wegman and T. Lin, Josiah Macy Foundation, New York, 1973.)

25. Winegarden, Calman R. "Determinants of International Differences in Educational Effort," September 1972. 31 p. (Republished in <u>Eastern Economic Journal</u>, Vol. 2, No. 1, January 1975.)

26. Staelin, Charles P. "A General Equilibrium Model of Tariffs in a Non-Competitive Economy," March 1973. 29 p. (Republished in <u>Journal of International Economics</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, February 1976.)

* 27. Barlow, Robin. "Planning Public Health Expenditures with Special Reference to Morocco," April 1973. 68 p. (Republished in <u>International Journal of Health Services</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, February 1976.)

28. Dia Bondo, Theophil Lukusa and Porter, Richard C. "A Constant Market-Share Look at African Exports in the 1960s," June 1973. 25 p.

29. Porter, Richard C. "Labor Migration and Urban Unemployment in Less-Developed Countries: Comment," July 1973. 19 p.

30. Heller, Peter S. "An Econometric Analysis of the Fiscal Behavior of the Public Sector in Developing Countries: Aid, Investment and Taxation," October 1973. 39 p. (Republished in <u>American Economic Review</u>, Vol. 65, No. 3, June 1975.)

31. Porter, Richard C. "Some Doubts About Kenya's Future as an Exporter of Manufactures," October 1973. 30 p. (Republished in Eastern Africa Economic Review, Vol. 6, No. 1, June 1974.)

32. Weisskopf, Thomas E. "Sources of American Imperialism: A Contribution to the Debate between Orthodox and Radical Theories," November 1973. 46 p. (Republished in <u>Review of Radical Political Economics</u>, Vol. 6, No. 4, Fall 1974.)

33. Hoopengardner, Thomas. "Rural-Urban Migration: A Dynamic View," January 1974. 15 p. 34. Porter, Richard C. and Staelin, Charles P. "On the Rationality of 'Cascaded' Export Subsidies and Taxes," March 1974. 9 p.

35. Weisskopf, Thomas E. "American Economic Interests in Foreign Countries: An Empirical Survey," April 1974. 56 p.

36. Shapiro, Kenneth H. and Muller, Jurgen. "Sources of Technical Efficiency: The Roles of Modernization and Information," April 1974. 40 p. (Republished in <u>Economic Develop-</u> <u>ment and Cultural Change</u>, Vol. 25, No. 2, January 1977.)

* 37. Stolper, Wolfgang F. "Investments, Employment and Output per Man in the Tunisian Economy, 1961-1971," September 1974. 112 p. (Republished in <u>Weltschaftliches</u> <u>Archiv</u>, Vol. 114, No. 3, September 1978, and in <u>Annales</u> <u>Economiques</u>, No. 14, 1980, in French.)

38. Porter, Richard C. "Measuring the Cost of Granting Tariff Preferences," September 1974. 44 p.

39. Herman, Barry M. "Multinational Oligopoly in Poor Countries: How East Africa Got its Petroleum Refineries," September 1974. 32 p. (Republished in <u>Journal of Development Economics</u>, Vol. 2, 1975 and in <u>Readings on the Multinational Corporation in Kenya</u>, edited by Rapnael Kaplinsky, Oxford University Press, Nairobi, 1978.)

40. Elliott, Howard J.C. "Animation Rurale and Encadrement Technique in the Ivory Coast," September 1974. 33 p.

41. Weisskopf, Thomas E. "China and India: A Comparative Survey of Economic Performance," October 1974. 43 p. (Republished in <u>Economic and Political Weekly</u>, Vol. 10, Nos. 5-7, February 1975.)

42. Heller, Peter S. "Factor Endowment Change and the Structure of Comparative Advantage: The Case of Japan, 1956-1969," January 1975. 23 p. (Republished in <u>Review of Econo-</u> mics and Statistics, Vol. 58, No. 3, August 1976.)

43. Heller, Peter S. "An Analysis of the Structure, Equity and Effectiveness of Public Sector Health Systems in Developing Countries: The Case of Tunisia, 1960-1972," February 1975. 105 p.

44. Blake, Robert. "Import Controls and Production in Tunisia During the 1960s," March 1975. 41 p.

45. Kleve, Jacob G. and Stolper, Wolfgang F. "Changes in Income Distribution, 1961-1971 (Tunisia)," March 1975. 30 p.

46. Kleve, Jacob G. "The Financing of Investments in Tunisia, 1961-1971," March 1975. 41 p.

47. Ketkar, Suhas L. "Economics of Education in Sierra Leone," April 1975. 37 p. (Republished in <u>Manpower Planning</u> and <u>Utilization in West Africa</u>, International Labor Organization, 1979.)

48. Berg, Elliot J. "Some Problems in the Analysis of Urban Proletarian Politics in the Third World," March 1976. 17 p. (Republished in <u>Comparative Urban Research</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, J April 1976.) 49. Monson, Terry D. and Pursell, Garry G. "An Evaluation of Expatriate Labor Replacement in the Ivory Coast," April 1976. 75 p. (Republished in <u>Actualité Econo-mique</u>, Vol. 53, No. 2, April - June 1977, in French, and in <u>Journal of Development Economics</u>, Vol. 6, No. 1, March 1979.)

50. Kendrick, Robin, J. "A Survey of Labor Relations in Cameroon," May 1976. 39 p. (Republished in <u>Industrial</u> <u>Relations in Africa</u>, edited by Ukandi G. Damachi, International Institute for Labor Studies, Geneva, 1979.)

51. Berg, Elliot J. "The Economic Impact of Drought and Inflation in the Sahel," May 1976. 35 p.

52. Shapiro, Kenneth H. "Efficiency Differentials in Peasant Agriculture and Their Implications for Development Policies," June 1976. 13 p. (Republished in International Association of Agricultural Economics Occasional Paper No. 1, November 1977.)

53. Saulniers, Alfred H. "Unit Equivalent Scales for Specific Food Commodities: Kinshasa, Zaire," August 1976. 22 p.

54. Saulniers, Alfred H. "The Economics of Prestation Systems: A Consumer Analysis of Extended Family Obligations with Application to Zaire," August 1976. 27 p.

55. Elliott, James A.M. "Will Rising Wages in the Controlled Sector Increase Total Employment in Less-Developed Countries?," August 1976. 37 p. (Republished in Journal of Development Studies, Vol 16, No. 1, October 1979.)

56. Barlow, Robin. "A Test of Alternative Methods of Making International Product Comparisons," September 1976. 15 p. (Republished in <u>Economic Journal</u>, Vol. 87, September 1977.)

57. Heller, Peter S. "Interactions of Childhood Mortality and Fertility in West Malaysia: 1947-1970," September 1976. 33 p.

58. Heller, Peter S. and Drake, William D. "Malnutrition, Child Morbidity and the Family Decision Process," September 1976. 43 p. (Republished in Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 6, No. 2, June 1979.)

59. Staelin, Charles P. and Jurado, Gonzalo M. "The Impact of Export Incentives and Export-Related Policies on the Firms of the Less-Developed Countries: A Case Study of the Philippines," September 1976. 29 p.

60. Porter, Richard C. "A Model of a South Africantype Economy," October 1976. 42 p. (Republished in <u>American</u> <u>Economic Review</u>, Vol. 68, No. 5, December 1978.)

61. Montgomery, Barbara B. "The Economic Role of the Ivorian Woman," February 1977. 49 p.

62. Heller, Peter S. "A Model of the Demand for Medical and Health Services in West Malaysia," October 1976. 52 p. (Republished in <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, Vol. 16, 1982.)

)

63. Monson, Terry D. "A Note on Measuring Educational Returns in LDCs," February 1977. 12 p. (Republished in Journal of Developing Areas, Vol. 13, No. 4, July 1979.)

64. Lopez, Michael. "The Determinants of Income and its Distribution in Four Villages in India," February 1977. 76 p.

65. Cross, John G. "A Stochastic Learning Model of Migration," February 1977. 17 p. (Republished in Journal of Development Economics, Vol. 5, No. 2, June 1978.)

66. Weisskopf, Thomas E. "Dependence as an Explanation of Underdevelopment," February 1977. 32 p.

67. Heller, Peter S. "Issues in the Allocation of Resources in the Health Sector of Developing Countries," February 1977. 33 p. (Republished in <u>Economic Development</u> and Cultural Change, Vol. 27, No. 1, October 1973.)

68. Porter, Richard C. "Economic Sanctions: The Theory and Evidence from Rhodesia," March 1977. 19 p. (Republished in Journal of Peace Science, Vol. 3, No.2, Fall 1978.)

69. Henning, Peter H. "The Urban Popular Economy and Informal Sector Production," March 1977. 66 p.

70. Nziramasanga, Mudziviri T. "Production from an Exhaustible Resource Under Government Control in LDCs," December 1977. 17 p.

71. Barnum, Howard N. and Squire, Lyn. "Labor Heterogeneity and Rice Production in Malaysia," December 1977. 11 p.

72. Bloch, Peter C. "Labor Relations in Senegal -History, Institutions and Perspectives," January 1978. 41 p.

73. Barnum, Howard N. and Squire, Lyn. "Consistent Aggregation of Family and Hired Labor in Agricultural Production Functions," January 1978. 12 p.

74. Delgado, Christopher L. "An Investigation of the Lack of Mixed Farming in the West African Savannah: A Farming Systems Approach for Tenkodogo, Upper Volta," November 1978. 71 p.

75. Pinckney, Annette M. "An Analysis of Grain Storage in Three Interior Sahel Countries," January 1979. 75 p.

76. Berg, Nancy and Elliot J. "Graduate Training of LDC Economists in U.K. Universities - A Statistical Note." January 1979. 35 p.

77. Porter, Richard C. "The Potential Impact of International Trade and Investment Sanctions on the South African Economy," February 1979. 80 p. (Republished in Journal of Conflict Resolution, December 1979.)

73. Barnum, Howard N. and Barlow, Robin. "Reducing Mortality When Diseases are Interdependent," August 1978. 25 p. 79. Berg, Elliot J. "Reforming Grain Marketing Systems in West Africa," June 1979. 50 p.

* 80. Ross, Clark G. "Grain Demand and Consumer Preferences: Dakar, Senegal," June 1979. 26 p. (Republished in Food Policy, Vol. 5, No. 4, November 1980.)

* 81. Ross, Clark G. "A Village Level Study of Producer Grain Transactions in Rural Senegal," June 1979. 51 p. (Republished in <u>African Studies Review</u>, FORTHCOMING ISSUE 1983.)

82. Barlow, Robin. "Economic Growth in the Middle East, 1950-1972," June 1980. 41 p. (Republished in <u>International Journal of Middle East Studies</u>, Vol. 14, 1982.)

83. Eddy, Edward D. "Prospects for the Development of Cattle Production on Mixed Farms in the Pastoral Zone of Niger: A Summary," June 1980. 91 p.

84. Berg, Elliot J. "Alternative Strategies for Zimbabwe's Growth," June 1980. 27 p.

85. Ross, Clark G. "A Modeling of the Demand and Supply of Food Grains in Senegal," June 1980. 68 p.

86. Staatz, John M. "The Economics of Cattle and Meat Marketing in Ivory Coast: A Summary," June 1980. 84 p.

37. Ranney, Susan I. "The Open Door Policy and Industrialization in Egypt: A Preliminary Investigation," August 1980. 47 p.

88. Ranney, Susan I. "A Note on the Proletarianization of the African Peasantry in Rhodesia," August 1980. 18 p.

89. Barnum, Howard N. "The Economic Cost and Benefits of an Immunization Program in Indonesia," January 1981. 37 p.

90. Makinen, Marty; Herman, Larry A.; Staatz, John M. "A Model of Meat Versus Live-Animal Exports from Upper Volta," February 1981. 27 p.

91. Grosse, Scott D. "A Skeptical Perspective on Income Redistribution and Poverty Reduction in Sri Lanka," May 1981. 27 p.

92. Kemal, A.R. and Porter, Richard C. "Learning by Doing While Remembering Forgetting, With Reminders From Pakistan Manufacturing Data," May 1981. 21 p.

93. Berg, Elliot J. "Intergovernmental Health Assistance in Francophone West Africa," June 1981. 46 p.

94. Ranney, Susan I. "Terms of Trade and Domestic Distribution: A Comment," July 1981. 11 p.

95. Porter, Richard C. "Apartheid, the Job Ladder, and the Evolutionary Hypothesis: Empirical Evidence from South African Manufacturing, 1960-1977," September 1981. 34 p. 96. Makinen, Marty. "A Benefit-Cost Analysis o Measles Vaccinations in Yaounde, Cameroon," November 1997 20 p. (Republished in <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, FORT COMING ISSUE 1983.)

+ 97. Thomas-Peterhans, Randall. "The Stratification of Livestock Production and Marketing in the Zinder Department of Niger," September 1982. 39 p.

* 98. Berg, Elliot J. and Ainsworth, Martha. "A Strategy for Health Care in West Africa," November 1982, 35 p.

99. Josserand, Henri P. and Brazee, Richard J_4 "Domestic and Foreign Effort Applied to a Fish Stock: Getting the Most over Time, for a Change," May 1983. 14 p. ٠

ja) Tapas ana tart

and the start of

and the second sec

Rea.

100. Ranney, Susan I. "Time Allocation and Remittanc Flows: The Case of Temporary Mexican Migration to the U.S. June 1983.

101. Ranney, Susan I. "International Capital Transfers a the Choice of Production Technique: A Simple Two-Count Model," June 1983.

102. Ranney, Susan I. "Economic Models of Plann' Temporary Migration," June 1983.

103. Grosse, Scott D. "Rural Development and Rura Urban Migration: The Elusive Relationship," June 1983.

Please refer to the Discussion Paper Number (DP#) when requesting one of these titles. Postage and handling charges are included in the individual and subscription prices.

Available in French and English.

